

A Service of



Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Sharpe, Andrew; Fard, Shahrzad Mobasher

Working Paper The current state of research on the two-way linkages between productivity and well-being

ILO Working Paper, No. 56

Provided in Cooperation with: International Labour Organization (ILO), Geneva

Suggested Citation: Sharpe, Andrew; Fard, Shahrzad Mobasher (2022) : The current state of research on the two-way linkages between productivity and well-being, ILO Working Paper, No. 56, ISBN 978-92-2-036777-3, International Labour Organization (ILO), Geneva, https://doi.org/10.54394/TMUV3384

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/263119

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.



https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/igo/

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU



ILO Working Paper 56
 March / 2022

The current state of research on the two-way linkages between productivity and well-being

Authors / Andrew Sharpe , Shahrzad Mobasher Fard

Copyright © International Labour Organization 2022



This is an open access work distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 IGO License (http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/igo). Users can reuse, share, adapt and build upon the original work, even for commercial purposes, as detailed in the License. The ILO must be clearly credited as the owner of the original work. The use of the emblem of the ILO is not permitted in connection with users' work.

Translations – In case of a translation of this work, the following disclaimer must be added along with the attribution: *This translation was not created by the International Labour Office (ILO) and should not be considered an official ILO translation. The ILO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation.*

Adaptations – In case of an adaptation of this work, the following disclaimer must be added along with the attribution: *This is an adaptation of an original work by the International Labour Office (ILO). Responsibility for the views and opinions expressed in the adaptation rests solely with the author or authors of the adaptation and are not endorsed by the ILO.*

All queries on rights and licensing should be addressed to ILO Publications (Rights and Licensing), CH-1211 Geneva 22, Switzerland, or by email to rights@ilo.org.

ISBN: 9789220367766 (print) ISBN: 9789220367773 (web-pdf) ISBN: 9789220367780 (epub) ISBN: 9789220367797 (mobi) ISBN: 9789220367803 (html) ISSN: 2708-3446

DOI: 10.54394/TMUV3384

The designations employed in ILO publications, which are in conformity with United Nations practice, and the presentation of material therein do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the International Labour Office concerning the legal status of any country, area or territory or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers.

The responsibility for opinions expressed in signed articles, studies and other contributions rests solely with their authors, and publication does not constitute an endorsement by the International Labour Office of the opinions expressed in them.

Reference to names of firms and commercial products and processes does not imply their endorsement by the International Labour Office, and any failure to mention a particular firm, commercial product or process is not a sign of disapproval.

ILO Working Papers summarize the results of ILO research in progress, and seek to stimulate discussion of a range of issues related to the world of work. Comments on this ILO Working Paper are welcome and can be sent to rogovsky@ilo.org, RESEARCH@ilo.org.

Authorization for publication: Richard Samans, Director RESEARCH

ILO Working Papers can be found at: www.ilo.org/global/publications/working-papers

Suggested citation:

Sharpe , A., Mobasher Fard, S. 2022. *The current state of research on the two-way linkages between productivity and well-being*, ILO Working Paper 56 (Geneva, ILO).

Abstract

Interest in the topic of well-being has burgeoned in recent years as the weaknesses of gross domestic product (GDP) per capita as a proxy for well-being have become more apparent. At the same time, the global economy has experienced a productivity slowdown. Since productivity growth is recognized as being by far the most important long-term source of sustainable gains in living standards, this development has implications for the future of living standards around the world.

These two developments raise a number of issues related to the two-way linkages between productivity and well-being. First, does slower productivity growth constitute a significant threat to the betterment of the well-being of the world's population, and, if so, by how much? Second, given that many indicators of well-being can have positive effects on productivity, should one aspect of any strategy to revive productivity growth be to focus on policies that improve well-being? The objective of this report is to survey the current state of research on the two-way linkages between productivity and well-being.

About the authors

Andrew Sharpe is the Founder and Executive Director of the Ottawa-based Centre for the Study of Living Standards, a not-for-profit economic research organization. He is also the Founding Editor of the journal *International Productivity Monitor* and Executive Director of the International Association for Research in Income and Wealth

Shahrzad Mobasher Fard is a Senior Economist at the World Bank Group.

Table of contents

Abstract	01
About the authors	01
Executive Summary	05

08

Introduction

1	Measurement issues related to productivity and well-being	09
	A. Productivity measurement	09
	1) Definitions of productivity	09
	2) Productivity metrics	10
	3) Problems in productivity measurement	11
	4) Misconceptions related to productivity	12
	B. Well-being measurement	
	1) Objective measures of well-being	13
	2) Measures of subjective well-being	14

	2	Channels through which productivity growth can affect well-being	16
		A. Link between productivity growth and objective well-being	16
		1) Impact of productivity growth on real wages	16
	2) Impact of higher real wages and higher real incomes on private consumption and govern- ment revenues that finance public consumption and public transfers, with implications for objective well-being	19	
		3) Impact of technical progress and productivity gains on greenhouse gas emissions	21
		B. Subjective well-being	22
		1) Impact of absolute and relative income on subjective well-being	22
		2) Theoretical and methodological limitations to assessing the relationship between absolute and relative income and subjective well-being	24

3	Linkages running from well-being to productivity	25
	A. Impact of objective well-being on productivity	25
	1) Impact of health conditions	25
	2) Impact of mental health on productivity	26
	3) Impact of risky health behaviours	26
	4) Impact of equality and fairness on productivity	27
	5) Impact of wages on productivity (job turnover and worker effort in relation to efficiency wages)	28

6) Impact of economic and job security on productivity	28
B. Path from subjective well-being to productivity	28
1) Job satisfaction and productivity	29
2) Link between work-related stress and productivity	29
C. Factors affecting productivity through well-being effects	30
1) Human capital, well-being and productivity	30
2) Social capital (e.g. trust), well-being and productivity	31
 Impact of public health and environmental conditions both in and outside the workplace of worker well-being and productivity 	n 31
4) Implications of ICT usage on worker well-being and productivity	32
5) Impact of workplace wellness programmes on worker well-being and productivity	32



References

35

34

List of Figures

Figure 1: Growth in labour productivity and real compensation, Canada, 1976–2018 (1976=100)	17
Figure 2: The conceptual framework underlying the analysis of decoupling	18
Figure 3: Components of consumption, Canada, 1981, 2000, 2008, 2014 and 2017 (2007 dollars per capita)	20

Executive Summary

Interest in the topic of well-being has burgeoned in recent years as the weaknesses of gross domestic product (GDP) per capita as a proxy for well-being have become more apparent. At the same time, the global economy has experienced a productivity slowdown. Since productivity growth is recognized as being by far the most important long-term source of sustainable gains in living standards, this development has implications for the future of living standards around the world.

These two developments raise a number of issues related to the two-way linkages between productivity and well-being. First, does slower productivity growth constitute a significant threat to the betterment of the well-being of the world's population, and, if so, by how much? Second, given that many indicators of well-being can have positive effects on productivity, should one aspect of any strategy to revive productivity growth be to focus on policies that improve well-being?

In order to answer these questions, it is important to understand the linkages between productivity and well-being, both the channels running from productivity to well-being and the paths from well-being to productivity. That is the objective of this background report.

This report contains three main parts. The first part discusses measurement issues related to both productivity and well-being. The second part reviews the literature on the channels running from productivity to well-being. The third part discusses the literature on the linkages running from well-being to productivity. The fourth part presents a conclusion.

Measurement of productivity and well-being

The first part of the report, on measurement issues, covers the definition of productivity, productivity metrics, productivity measurement issues and misconceptions about productivity. Productivity is a vast field, and the discussion is at a high level of generality. The key takeaways are that productivity measurement challenges are formidable, especially with regard to public services and the incorporation of new products into real output measures.

In addition, a number of misconceptions about productivity need to be allayed. Productivity gains come from working smarter, not harder. In the long run, there is no trade-off between productivity and employment at the total economy level. Productivity is not a synonym for output, meaning that productivity losses due to a pandemic, for example, are not the same as output losses and are generally much smaller.

The measurement of well-being is also looked at in the first part of this report. There are two basic approaches to well-being: objective well-being measures, which includes a wide range of economic and social indicators and can be represented either by a dashboard of selected indicators or as a composite index based on a weighting scheme; and subjective well-being measures, often referred to as happiness metrics. Vigorous debate continues about the advantages and disadvantages of the two approaches.

Subjective well-being includes both long-term and short-term measures. The former are retrospective in nature and capture a person's overall satisfaction with life. The latter focus on positive and negative effect in the here and now. The relative importance given to objective and subjective well-being measures varies greatly among researchers. Some discount subjective well-being because of cultural influences and different expectations about what life can bring, while others downplay objective measures of well-being, asserting that all that matters is whether individuals feel happy or not.

Linkages from productivity to well-being

The second part of the report examines the channels through which productivity growth can affect well-being linkages running from well-being to productivity. The most obvious and important channel is created through the real income gains that productivity growth makes possible, both for workers in the form of real wages and for owners of capital through higher profits. Real income growth also boosts tax revenues, which can be used for public infrastructure and services and for transfer payments. The working assumption, which may or may not be correct, is that higher income leads to higher well-being.

Productivity growth, or, more specifically, the technological progress that makes productivity advancements possible, can also indirectly affect well-being through its positive effects on the environment. For example, increased energy efficiency or productivity can reduce CO₂ emissions.

The link from productivity growth to well-being may, however, have been weakening in recent decades, owing to both the slowdown in productivity growth and the decoupling of productivity from median wages.

The impact of productivity growth on subjective well-being is more problematic than the link between productivity and objective well-being, at least in the developed world. Life satisfaction is, on average, low in the developing world, meaning that rapid economic growth, which is driven largely by productivity growth, can increase subjective well-being. In rich countries, however, the impact of higher incomes on well-being is less clear, as illustrated by the Easterlin Paradox, an example of which is the fact that life satisfaction has barely moved in the United States of America for many decades, despite real income gains.

Linkages from well-being to productivity

The third part of the report examines the linkages running from well-being to productivity. The paths from objective well-being to productivity are numerous: better health and nutrition boost worker productivity, and research has shown that a more equitable and inclusive society and economy, as well as greater job security, foster greater productivity. Literature on the efficiency wage shows that workers paid above their market wage become more productive.

Subjective well-being also has effects on productivity. The "happy worker" hypothesis provides evidence that higher levels of job satisfaction promote productivity. On the other hand, if well-being in the workplace or in general is low as a result of high levels of stress, productivity may be negatively affected.

Several factors can affect productivity via their impact on well-being. For example, higher levels of social capital promote trust in society, and trust has been shown to be positively associated with productivity. Equally, public health and environmental conditions have positive effects on well-being and productivity. Wellness programmes can also contribute to both worker well-being and productivity.

Conclusion

Following a review of the evidence presented in this report, the two questions posed at the start of this section can be answered strongly in the affirmative. First, productivity growth – and the higher incomes and government revenues arising from it – do indeed contribute to higher levels of well-being, especially objective measures of well-being and especially in developing countries. This means that slower global productivity growth will dampen the pace of advancement of well-being around the world.

Second, given the strong linkages identified in the report running from well-being to productivity, especially in the area of health, policies and programmes aimed at directly or indirectly increasing the well-being of the population will have positive impact on productivity performance. These productivity gains will, in turn, generate greater income and government revenues that can boost well-being. Productivity growth

07 ILO Working Paper 56

and improvements in well-being are closely interconnected and can create positive, mutually reinforcing feedback loops.

Introduction¹

Interest in the topic of well-being has burgeoned in recent years as the weaknesses of GDP per capita as a proxy for well-being have become more apparent (Hoekstra 2019). At the same time, the global economy has experienced a productivity slowdown.² Since productivity growth is recognized as being by far the most important long-run source of sustainable gains in living standards, this development has implications for the future of living standards around the world.

These two developments raise a number of issues related to the two-way linkages between productivity and well-being. First, does slower productivity growth constitute a significant threat to the betterment of the well-being of the world's population, and, if so, by how much? Second, given that many indicators of well-being can have positive effects on productivity, should one aspect of any strategy to revive productivity growth be to focus on policies that improve well-being?

In order to answer these questions, it is important to understand the linkages between productivity and well-being, both the channels running from productivity to well-being and the paths running from well-being to productivity. That is the objective of this background report.

From a well-being perspective, multiple indicators can be used to capture the capacity of a country to generate well-being for its citizens and its actual performance in that area. While this report is concerned with only one of those factors, namely productivity, a comprehensive approach to well-being needs to include multiple factors, not just a single factor.

This report contains three main parts. The first part discusses measurement issues related to both productivity and well-being. The second part reviews the literature on the channels running from productivity to well-being. The third part discusses the literature on the linkages passing from well-being to productivity. The fourth part presents a conclusion.

The authors would like to thank Lawrence Jeff Johnson from the International Labour Organization (ILO) for the invitation to prepare this report and the ILO for its financial assistance. We thank the following ILO officials for their written comments: Lawrence Jeff Johnson, Nikolai Rogovsky, Sajid Ghani, Marlene de la Chaux and Marva Corley-Coulibaly. We also wish to thank the participants of the ILO seminar on 8 November 2021 at which this report was presented for comments.

² A second development related to productivity, at least in the developed world, has been the decoupling of productivity and pay. Growth in the real median wage has diverged from labour productivity in many advanced countries. On this issue, see the the Fall 2021 issue (No. 41) of the International Productivity Monitor, with articles on the United States by Mishel and Bivens (2021), on Canada by Sharpe and Ashwell (2021), on the United Kingdom by Teichgraeber and Van Reenen (2021), and on Canada and the United States by Greenspon, Stansbury and Summers (2021). For developments in OECD countries, see Sharpe and Uguccioni (2017) and Schwellnus, Kappeler and Pionnier (2017).

I Measurement issues related to productivity and well-being

To provide some context regarding the linkages between productivity and well-being, we shall first discuss measurement issues related to productivity and well-being. As there is often confusion regarding the meaning of both concepts, it is important to clarify the definitions of the terms and highlight measurement issues associated with them.

This part of the report consists of two major sections, on productivity measurement and on well-being measurement. The first section contains four subsections, on productivity definitions, productivity metrics, productivity measurement issues and misconceptions related to productivity. The second section discusses objective and subjective measures of well-being.

A. Productivity measurement

1) Definitions of productivity

The concept or notion of productivity is intuitively very simple. It is the relationship or ratio between outputs and inputs over a given period of time. The challenge arises in the

measurement of those outputs and inputs. The most basic definition of productivity is labour productivity, defined most simply in terms of homogenous physical output per unit of labour input. An example would be the number of tons of steel that a worker can produce in an hour. If a worker produces 10 tons of steel per hour in year one and then 20 tons per hour in year two, productivity growth is 100 per cent between the two measurement periods.

Only a small proportion of the output that an economy produces can be measured in purely physical terms, so measures of labour productivity based on physical output are relatively rare. Such measures can apply only to narrow industries, such as gold mining, and cannot be used where heterogenous products are produced in one firm or industry. In these cases, an aggregation of the different types of output is needed, and the only way to combine different types of output is by adding up their monetary values.

The term productivity is often used in a manner that does not distinguish between productivity levels and productivity growth rate.³ For example, the phrase "a strong productivity performance" can refer to a situation where the level of productivity is high or one where productivity growth is rapid. Given the ambiguity that can arise in such cases, it is important to always specify which use of the productivity concept is being employed.

The monetary value of an output reflects both the physical quantity of the output produced and the market price at which it is sold. The labour productivity of an industry is the value added produced by that industry per hour worked. The labour productivity of the total economy is the ratio or quotient of the sum of the value added – expressed in monetary units, outputs produced and hours worked – by all industries. For example, the aggregate labour productivity level of the United States in 2019 was approximately US\$80 per hour, expressed in current or 2019 dollars, based on the labour input-weighted average of the different labour productivity levels of the sectors in the economy.

For discussion of agreed international measures of labour productivity, see ILO (2016) and OECD (2001).

While labour productivity levels at a point in time are best expressed in current dollars, changes in the nominal productivity levels over time do not represent productivity growth. This is because changes in labour productivity are supposed to reflect changes in the physical quantity of output produced per unit of labour, rather than changes in the price of the output. If the value of an output rises by 10 per cent as a result of inflation, the economy is not 10 per cent more productive. Labour productivity growth rates must therefore be calculated on the basis of real or inflation-adjusted measures of output. These real output measures needed for labour productivity growth calculations at both the aggregate and industry level require nominal or current price estimates of the value of marketed output and of prices for that output at both the aggregate and industry levels.

The labour input used to calculate labour productivity can be either the number of hours worked or the number of workers (also referred to as the number of persons employed). This means that labour productivity can be measured on either a per hour basis or a per worker (or person employed) basis. It is important to recognize that the level of labour productivity is not determined only by the work intensity and the skills of a worker, but also by many other factors, especially the amount of capital that the worker has to work with. Hours worked are a better measure of labour input than the number of persons employed, as hours worked are a more precise or accurate measure of time spent in production, namely labour effort. The number of hours worked per worker can vary over time or across industries, and such variation in labour input is not captured in the number of persons employed.

2) Productivity metrics

In addition to labour productivity discussed above, there are many other metrics and concepts used in productivity analysis, including other partial productivity measures, total productivity measures and social productivity.

Partial productivity measures

A partial productivity measure is a metric that relates output to a single factor of production, the classic example being labour productivity. Many other inputs are used in the production process, however, including capital, energy, raw materials, intermediate goods and purchased services. Partial productivity measures can be calculated for each of the individual inputs, with the input being the denominator of the productivity equation. An example in physical terms is energy productivity, defined as the number of tons of steel produced per barrel of oil. Such a metric is also called the energy intensity of production or energy efficiency. Changes in partial productivity measures over time must be measured in real terms. Just as the nominal values of outputs must be deflated to obtain the real outputs, so the nominal values of inputs must be deflated to obtain real or inflation-adjusted inputs.

Total factor productivity

Total factor productivity (TFP) or multi-factor productivity is a metric that relates more than one input to an output. An example of TFP is the ratio of output to a combined measure of labour and capital inputs. Since it is not possible to combine inputs measured in different units (e.g. hours for labour and dollars for capital), absolute levels of TFP cannot be calculated (although relative measures of TFP can be produced). TFP is measured as the difference between the growth rate of the real output and the growth rate of factor inputs (generally capital and labour, but the European Union capital, labour, energy, materials and service (EU KLEMS) system also includes energy, materials and services). The growth rate of the total input is a weighted average of the growth rates of the different inputs, where the weights are the factor income shares. These factor income shares are assumed to represent the factor's contribution to output. Given the difficulty of measuring capital, TFP measures are considerably more difficult to construct than labour productivity measures owing to greater data requirements. Many developing countries do not have the statistical capacity to produce TFP estimates.

Social productivity

Another concept of productivity sometimes encountered in the productivity literature is social productivity, although this concept is not as well defined as other productivity concepts. In general terms, the concept refers to definitions of productivity that include, in the denominator and numerator of the productivity level, ratio inputs and outputs beyond those used in the narrow economic definition of productivity, where inputs and outputs are defined as only those directly related to production.

One use of this definition is to take the productivity concept beyond economic productivity to include the resources, such as labour, that are not used in production but potentially could be. For example, when the unemployed population is added to the denominator of the labour productivity calculation, the social productivity of society is shown to be less than the more narrowly defined standard labour productivity metric, which excludes unused labour input.

A second specific concept of social productivity, to be discussed later in the current report, refers to the inclusion of externalities arising from production in the output and, hence, in the productivity of a firm or sector.

A third concept specific to social productivity relates to computing time. If the time needed to travel to and from the worksite is included in the denominator of labour productivity calculations, the level of labour productivity falls. From the perspective of the worker, this social productivity metric may be a better representation of the output produced per hour based on the total number of hours that the worker spends both at work and commuting. The shift to remote work during the pandemic reduced computing time and boosted this measure of social productivity.

3) Problems in productivity measurement

Productivity measures are at the apex of the statistical system, as they require reliable data on real outputs and inputs. Consequently, measurement problems related to nominal output and to output prices, as well as to labour input, nominal capital stock and capital stock prices, affect the accuracy of productivity measures. It is well beyond the scope of this report to provide a comprehensive discussion of productivity ty measurement issues.⁴ However, four particularly important productivity measurement issues are highlighted in this section.

Externalities

Output, by definition, excludes externalities such as pollution. This means that, from a societal perspective, nominal market output and, therefore, nominal productivity measures may not capture a firm or sector's net social contribution to output and productivity. Both positive and negative externalities generated in the production process are excluded from the standard output measure. For example, the market value of the output of a pulp mill excludes the costs borne by society from the air pollution generated in the production process. From a positive externality perspective, the market value of apiaries excludes the benefits for farmers of the pollination effects on crops. The valuation of these environmental externalities is difficult to calculate and very sensitive to the methodology used (Cárdenas Rodrígues, Haščič and Souchier 2018).

Public sector productivity

The measurement of real output and productivity in the public sector, including public administration, health and education, is problematic. Public sector output is generally not marketed. This means that there is no market-based nominal output measure that can be deflated by price changes to obtain a real output

For a detailed discussion of productivity measurement issue, see the productivity handbook produced by the Office for National Statistics of the United Kingdom (ONS 2016).

measure. Real output in the public sector is consequently measured by the quantity of inputs, mostly labour inputs. This means that labour productivity growth in the public sector – where output is not measured independently of inputs – is, by definition, zero. Economists have been working on the development of more reliable estimates of output and productivity in the public sector for many years (Atkinson 2005), but progress has been slow.

New and improved products

A major challenge for the measurement of real output and productivity is the introduction of new and improved products into the economy, and specifically the price of these products compared with earlier versions of the same product. Price indices are, in principle, based on the price of a product that does not change in characteristics or quality over time. This is obviously not the case for new and improved products.

Statisticians have developed methods, such as hedonics, to quality-adjust price series involving new and improved products. The accuracy of these series is often questioned, however, particularly for products that never previously existed, such as smart phones. Some economists believe that the consumer utility benefits of new products are not being captured in price series, with the result that real output and, therefore, productivity growth are being underestimated. An historical example of such underestimation is the price of a lumen of light, which Nordhaus (1996) calculates has fallen massively in the past two centuries when adjusted for quality. This development has not been fully incorporated into price statistics, which Nordhaus argues has resulted in the significant underestimation of real long-term output and income growth and, consequently, productivity growth. This is an unsettled area of economic research.

Intangible capital

In addition to tangible capital, such as buildings, machinery and equipment, production requires inputs such as research and development, intellectual property, advertising and construction of databases, which are not currently included, or have not historically been included, as capital inputs in economic statistics. The exclusion of these intangible capital inputs has implications for the accurate measurement of productivity, especially total factor productivity. Fortunately, economists and national statistical offices have recognized this deficiency in economic statistics and are taking steps to improve data in this important area (Haskel and Westlake 2018).

4) Misconceptions related to productivity

The general public, and even economic commentators, have many misconceptions about productivity. Watson (2002: 307) acerbically commented that "[m]ost Canadians think about productivity the way most children think about spinach: they have often been told that it will be good for them in the long run but they suspect it's not going to be fun."

A national poll conducted in 1998 revealed that only 21 per cent of Canadians felt that they had a good understanding of what productivity meant. Among those with university degrees, 37 per cent felt that they understood productivity, while only 14 per cent of respondents with a high school education or less felt the same. According to the pollster, a 14 per cent awareness level is the lowest ever recorded for an issue considered a national priority (Marzolini 1999).

A full discussion of the misunderstandings associated with productivity is beyond the scope of the current report, but we will highlight three particularly important misunderstandings: confusion between the concepts of output and productivity; the view that productivity growth means that workers must work harder; and the belief that higher productivity results in job losses.

Misidentification of output increases as productivity gains

As noted, output per hour is a more appropriate measure of labour productivity than output per person employed. An employee who increases the number of hours that he or she works per workday from eight to nine hours may produce more output but is not more productive on an hours-worked basis. Yet, in discussions of productivity, such changes in hours worked and output are identified as productivity gains, without any mention of the fact that this statement is only correct on an output-per-worker definition of productivity.

Productivity and work intensity

Labour productivity can indeed be raised, at least in the short run, by an increase in work intensity, such as by speeding up an assembly line. Increased work intensity is not a sustainable path to higher productivity levels, however. There are much more fundamental and important determinants of labour productivity growth, including technological change, increased capital per worker (capital deepening), skills training and organizational changes in the workplace. Employers may implore employees to work harder, but the key to productivity growth is to work smarter using the most advanced technologies and equipment, the best trained workforce and the most effective organizational structures and practices.

Productivity and job losses

Economists have vigorously debated the impact of technical change and productivity advances on employment for over two centuries, going back to David Ricardo's famous chapter on machinery in his book *On the Principles of Political Economy and Taxation*, first published in 1817.⁵ The debate continues with different takes on the impact of artificial intelligence on jobs, which some see as heralding a future without work. There is no doubt that, in sectors that are experiencing rapid productivity advances and relatively inelastic demand, employment can fall significantly. The classic example is agriculture; this sector, at least in Canada over the 1961–2012 period, experienced the fastest rise in labour productivity, the largest fall in its relative output price and the greatest decline in its employment share (de Avillez 2011).

The narrative is different at the aggregate level, however, and rapid productivity growth does not mean falls in employment if demand is not constrained. Even with stable nominal wages, when markets are relatively competitive, productivity gains result in lower prices and higher real wages and incomes and, hence, greater demand, which, in turn, stimulates production and employment. Nonetheless, there can be adjustment problems; workers must move from declining to growing sectors, which can be particularly difficult for older workers and for workers who have to relocate between regions or have to learn new skills. But at the aggregate level, at least, productivity growth in an economy with well functioning markets does not pose a long-term threat to jobs.

B. Well-being measurement

The measurement of well-being can be approached from two perspectives: objective measures of well-being based on data collected by statistical authorities, and subjective well-being estimates based on surveys of individuals' perception of their own well-being. These are both legitimate approaches to the measurement of well-being and can provide different insights on what matters when creating a better society.

1) Objective measures of well-being

Two approaches can be taken when using specific objective indicators to track trends in, and levels of, objective well-being. The first is to identify only what are considered the most important individual measures

of objective well-being. The second approach is to go a step further and combine those measures with the key indicators of well-being in order to develop a composite index of well-being.

Specific objective well-being indicators and dashboards

There are myriad indicators of objective well-being. The best known – and the most criticized – proxy for well-being is the average GDP per capita. Distribution concerns can be addressed through the use of median measures, such as median income and wealth. Labour market indicators such as the unemployment rate, average and median earnings and the incidence of low-paid jobs are also important objective economic indicators of well-being. Objective well-being indicators have been developed for many areas, including housing conditions, health status, work-life balance, education and skill level, social connections, civic engagement and governance, environmental quality and personal security (OECD 2011).

The very large number of possible objective indicators of well-being can prove unwieldy. One approach to simplify this situation is to develop a dashboard focusing on a small number of crucial indicators. A metrics dashboard is defined as a tool used to track and display key well-being indicators in order to analyse trends over time and across multiple channels.

Composite indexes of well-being

The issue of how to assess overall trends in well-being using the very large number of possible well-being indicators has been addressed through the development of composite indices of well-being, in which individual indicators are weighted to produce an aggregate index. The best-known composite index is the Human Development Index produced by the United Nations Development Programme. Other composite indexes include the Genuine Progress Indicator, developed by Refining Progress, and the Index of Economic Well-being, developed by the Centre for the Study of Living Standards (Osberg and Sharpe 2002).

Composite indices present both strengths and weaknesses. The well-being research community is strongly divided on the issue. Advocates of composite indices see them as consolidating considerable information into a bottom line, whether a ranking or a time trend, which captures, in a nutshell, the reality of well-being. Composite indices are also very useful for communication purposes. On the other hand, detractors point to the sensitivity of such indices to the choice of indicators, the simplification of complex and countervailing trends into one number and, above all, the sensitivity of the results to the weighting scheme, in which weightings are based not on objective criteria but rather on the views (and biases) of the developers of the index.

2) Measures of subjective well-being

In recent years, interest in subjective well-being, often referred to as happiness studies, has grown rapidly in the well-being research community. Historically, subjective measures of well-being had been seen as inferior to objective measures, as they were considered to be based on perceptions of reality rather than objective data. It has become increasingly apparent, however, that perceptions are a reality for many persons, and that they influence both individuals' behaviour and their assessment of their own well-being. As the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) states, "[s]ubjective well-being reflects the notion that how people experience a set of circumstances is as important as the circumstances themselves, and that people are the best judges of how their own lives are going" (OECD 2011: 265).

There are two measures of subjective well-being. The first is life satisfaction, or the average measure of how persons evaluate their lives as a whole. This is a retrospective, long-term measure. The second measure of subjective well-being, which is short term in nature, is affect, which can be both positive and negative and which measures emotions at a given point in time. Positive affect captures the experiences of feelings of happiness, joy, excitement and love, while negative affect captures experiences of feelings of anger, pain and sadness.

Life satisfaction

Life satisfaction is a cognitive assessment of a person's life, rather than his or her current personal state. One well known measure of life satisfaction is the Cantril ladder, in which respondents are asked to rate their overall satisfaction with life on a scale from 0 (extremely dissatisfied) to 10 (completely satisfied). A limitation of this measure of life satisfaction is that cultural differences in attitudes to life between countries may affect the results when making international comparisons. A second concern regarding life satisfaction measures is that they are related to expectations, which can evolve over time as circumstances change and people adapt. One hundred years ago, individuals had much lower living standards than today. Over time, living standards have improved, as has the expectation that the population would enjoy these higher standards. Through this process of adaptation, referred to as the "hedonic treadmill", higher levels of material well-being do not translate into higher levels of life satisfaction.

Affect balance

Affect focuses on how people are experiencing well-being at a given point in time. It can be captured over time using data that show the path of positive or negative affect or feelings experienced by individuals over the course of a day. Time use data can also identify which activities are associated with each affect state. A simpler measure is the share of the population that reports having experienced more positive than negative emotions throughout the preceding day. This is called the affect balance.

2 Channels through which productivity growth can affect well-being

This part of the report examines the channels through which labour productivity growth can have an impact on objective and subjective well-being. Labour productivity growth affects both objective and subjective measures of well-being through the rise in real compensation. While objective measures of well-being are clearly defined by economic and non-economic indicators, subjective well-being is determined by individuals' own perspectives about their live and job satisfaction and by their positive and negative affects. Understanding the determinants of subjective well-being remains important, given that objective well-being cannot entirely explain changes in a society's well-being over time.

A. Link between productivity growth and objective well-being

This section presents the channels of the impact of labour productivity growth on objective well-being. Objective measures capture well-being through quality-of-life indicators based on material resources, such as income, food and housing, and on social attributes, such as education, health, political voice, social networks and connections.

1) Impact of productivity growth on real wages

Growth in labour productivity increases real labour compensation and leads to higher levels of real income, despite the partial decoupling of this relationship seen in recent decades.⁶ Higher labour productivity lowers production costs, allowing savings to be passed on to consumers through lower prices, representing a rise in real income.

In Canada, while similar growth rates in labour productivity and in real compensation were recorded between 1943 and 1975, some decoupling has been seen in the period since. Sharpe and Ashwell (2021) found that earnings barely grew over the 1976–2019 period, with median and average earnings increasing by an average of 0.20 per cent and 0.59 per cent per year respectively, while labour productivity rose by an average of 1.11 per cent per year over the same period.⁷ (See Figure 1.) The gap between median earnings and productivity growth was explained by mean–median inequality (47 per cent of the gap), a decline in the labour share (26 per cent of the gap), a deterioration in terms of trade (25 per cent of the gap) and the measurement of supplementary income (3 per cent of the gap).

For the OECD countries, Schwellnus, Kappeler and Pionnier (2017) found that, between 1995 and 2013, while productivity rose by 1.57 per cent per year on average, real median compensation rose by 1.17 per cent per year on average, representing an overall average gap of 0.40 percentage points per year.⁸ They found that mean-median inequality and the decline in the labour share accounted for 55 per cent and 45 per cent respectively of the gap between labour productivity and real compensation (which already accounts for self-employment labour income), after adjusting all figures by the GDP deflator.

⁶ Real labour compensation is measured as hourly wages reduced by either the GDP deflator or by the consumer price index.

⁷ Earnings, rather than wages, is used as the central metric for workers' income, which includes the imputed labour income of self-employed persons.

⁸ These figures are based on a simple average across 24 OECD countries.



Figure 1: Growth in labour productivity and real compensation, Canada, 1976–2018 (1976=100)

Source: Calculations by the Centre for the Study of Living Standards on the basis of data collected by Statistics Canada.

There are structural and policy drivers behind the two main factors accounting for the decoupling in labour productivity and median wage growth, namely mean-median inequality and the decline in the labour share. Figure 2 presents a conceptual framework underlying the three structural and policy drivers of the microeconomic effects leading to decoupling. The effects of technological change and trade on the fall in the labour share and on wage inequality (which are also depicted in the conceptual framework) can be summarized as follows:

- For OECD countries, the fall in the labour share can be explained either by technology-driven declines in investment prices and by global value chain (GVC) expansion, or by the fall in labour bargaining power. Over the 1995–2013 period, the 9 per cent decline in investment prices relative to value-added prices across the OECD countries was found to reduce the labour share by approximately 1.7 percentage points (OECD 2018). Moreover, the adoption of new technology was found to further displace workers, as it extended the range of existing tasks which could be carried out by machines (Acemoglu and Restrepo 2018). Furthermore, it was found that a 10-percentage-point increase in GVC participation in value-add-ed reduced the labour share by 1 percentage point. As such, the 6-percentage-point increase in GVC participation across the OECD countries over the 1995–2013 period is estimated to have reduced the labour share by 0.6 percentage points. On the basis of these assessments, the effect of GVC expansion on labour share appears to be roughly one-third of the effect of relative investment prices on labour share. The results of this study stand in contrast to those of Guschanski and Onaran (2021), who found that the deterioration in the labour share was attributable to a fall in the labour bargaining power due to pressures to move production to developing countries and to changes in labour market institutions, such as union density, social government expenditure and minimum wages.
- The rise in wage inequality is explained by technological change, which has substituted high-skilled labour for low-skilled labour (i.e. within-firm wage inequality), as well as trade integration with China (i.e. between-firm wage inequality). This first driver is evidenced by the positive correlation between research and development spending as a percent of GDP and wage inequality at the aggregate level (De Serres and Schwellnus 2018), in addition to the positive correlation between digitalization and higher wage dispersion between firms (Berlingieri, Blanchenay and Criscuolo 2017). Furthermore, trade integration

with China is found to have reduced labour demand for low-skilled workers to a much greater extent than for high-skilled workers (Autor, Dorn and Hanson 2015).

Figure 2: The conceptual framework underlying the analysis of decoupling



Source: OECD 2018.

Public policies and institutions can reinforce the linkage between productivity and real hourly wages. First, investment in skills can ensure that technological and trade integration gains are more broadly shared across workers, as capital is less likely to be substituted for high-skilled workers even as prices for new technologies fall. Second, competition-friendly product market reforms can increase the effect of productivity gains on wages by reducing the market rents that accrue to capital, which tend to lead to higher wage inequality by raising productivity and wage dispersion across firms. Third, in countries where the minimum wage is low or employment protection is weak, an increase in the minimum wage can help offset the adverse effect of product market reform on wage inequality. If the minimum wage is binding and employment protection rules are strict, raising the minimum wage may lead to the substitution of capital for labour, however.

2) Impact of higher real wages and higher real incomes on private consumption and government revenues that finance public consumption and public transfers, with implications for objective well-being

Higher real wages support higher real incomes, leading to increased levels of private consumption (including unpaid work) and increased public consumption through the delivery of public services and public transfers. Higher real hourly wages increase real incomes, allowing individuals to increase their consumption of private goods and services. Furthermore, the rise in real incomes allows individuals to dedicate more time to leisure, which has some utility, as well as additional time to unpaid work, which has a non-marketable monetary value associated with it. The rise in income also increases the tax base of the various levels of government, thereby generating more government revenue, which can be used to expand the delivery of public services to the population. Economies with a larger share of spending allocated to high-quality public investments are, in turn, found to experience higher productivity and economic growth in the longterm (Fournier 2016), which creates a positive feedback loop on well-being. In addition to the rise in public services, additional government revenue can be redistributed through public transfers targeted at lower income groups, thereby increasing their income, which can be used for the private consumption of goods and services aimed at improving their well-being.

Empirical evidence gathered in Canada indicates that, while personal consumption per capita has steadily risen in recent decades, growth in government spending and unpaid work per capita has been far more uneven. In Canada, per capita consumption, which includes personal consumption, government spending, regrettable expenditures and unpaid work, adjusted for family size and life expectancy, rose from 30,321 Canadian dollars in 1981 to 50,547 Canadian dollars in 2017 (2007 dollars per capita) or by 1.4 per cent per year, on average, over this period. Personal consumption per capita comprised the largest share of total consumption in 2017, at 58.6 per cent. The largest contribution to growth in per capita consumption was attributed to personal consumption per capita, followed by unpaid work and government expenditure. While personal consumption per capita rose consistently by 1–2 per cent over this period, with the exception of the 2000–2008 period when it spiked to 2.6 per cent, government spending and unpaid work per capita experienced far more uneven growth. (See Figure 3).



Figure 3: Components of consumption, Canada, 1981, 2000, 2008, 2014 and 2017 (2007 dollars per capita)

Source: Calculations by the Centre for the Study of Living Standards on the basis of data collected by Statistics Canada.

The increase in total private and public consumption of goods and services has significant implications for life expectancy. Higher total consumption results in increased life expectancy, with individuals having access to healthier diets and lifestyles and improved access to medical services, and with increased funding being made available for research that advances medical knowledge. The rise in life expectancy in turn increases the number of years over which individuals benefit from personal, government and unpaid work consumption flows, allowing total consumption and objective well-being to increase over an individual's lifetime. It should be cautioned, however, that the trend towards higher population dependency ratios found in developed countries has placed significant upward pressures on public expenditure while limiting the government's ability to generate revenue, potentially compromising the level and the quality of public services going forward.

Increased public investment and public transfers allow economic gains to be more broadly shared by society, thereby reducing, or limiting the rise in, poverty. Higher public investment, which includes physical infrastructure and social programmes, is found to directly and indirectly increase the disposable income and well-being of households across the entire income distribution. The OECD found that the incomes of low-income and high-income households increased equally by an average of 16 per cent in countries with a level of public investment relative to trend GDP which was below the average ratio of that of countries in the top half, and that those countries converged at this average ratio over a period of ten years (OECD 2016). Meanwhile, societies which benefit from higher productivity growth rates have additional resources for use in reducing poverty.

There are absolute and relative measures of poverty. Absolute measures of poverty, such as the low-income cut-offs in Canada, measure the income thresholds below which a family will likely devote 20 percentage points more of its income on the necessities of food, shelter and clothing than the average family. At international level, the key measure of absolute poverty is the World Bank International Poverty Line of US\$1.90 per person per day.⁹ The definition of absolute poverty remains subjective and is ultimately arbitrary. A relative measure of poverty, such as the low-income measures in Canada, is defined as a household income that is less than 50 per cent of the median household income. It is typically equivalent to 50 or 60 per cent of the national median income in European countries (measured through Eurostat) and in OECD countries. The preferred measure of poverty when assessing changes in the population's well-being is absolute poverty, rather than relative poverty, given that it targets the population segment without access to necessities. In addition to absolute and relative measures of poverty, the intensity of poverty is also used, as well as the depth of poverty relative to the poverty line.

Increased public investment and public transfers can potentially reduce inequality across the income distribution, in addition to reducing poverty. The distribution of income across a population can be measured using the Gini coefficient, ranging from 0 (perfect equality) to 1 (perfect inequality), or by comparing changes in income across time and across income groups.¹⁰ Labour income inequality, market income inequality and disposable income inequality have all risen since the 1990s across 17 OECD countries (OECD 2016). Over that same period, real disposable income rose by 30 per cent among the top income decile, but only 4 per cent for the bottom income decile. This indicates, to a certain extent, that the redistributive power of tax-and-transfer systems has either been deployed less strongly to counteract market income inequality or that has become less effective at redistributing income.

3) Impact of technical progress and productivity gains on greenhouse gas emissions

Improvements to energy productivity and efficiency can reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, thereby improving well-being through a reduction in pollution and in the frequency and extent of natural disasters and environmental degradation and an improvement in environmental sustainability. Energy can be considered an input in the production process, similarly to labour and capital, with improvements to energy productivity and efficiency allowing for reduced GHG emissions, thereby reducing the adverse impact of pollution and climate change on well-being.¹¹ According to a report published by ClimateWorks Australia (ClimateWorks Australia, 2015), Australia could increase its energy productivity from 24 cents of GDP per megajoule of primary energy use in 2010 to 48 cents of GDP per megajoule by 2030, representing a 97 per cent improvement. Under this scenario, the GDP of Australia would rise by 58 per cent by 2030, while its energy consumption would decline by 15 per cent. This could be achieved through a number of initiatives, including the automation of some industrial processes, improvements in energy data systems and electrification in the transport and industry sectors. This would lead to significant reductions in GHG emissions, given that energy use accounts for more than 65 per cent of GHG emissions in Australia.

Improvements in the efficiency of production processes for agricultural crops and livestock can lower GHG emissions and enhance well-being by reducing the adverse impact of climate change on ecosystems. While agriculture represents 3.2 per cent of the world's GDP in value-added terms, it is estimated to generate between one quarter and one third of the world's GHG emissions from on-farm activities and land use change to cropland (World Bank 2013). Havlik et al. (2013) created projections of GHG emissions under a baseline which assumes no TFP growth in crop and livestock production, as well as an alternative scenario which includes TFP growth. They found that global GHG emissions (excluding CO₂ emissions) would rise by 47 per cent between 2004 and 2034 under the baseline scenario, compared with only 16 per cent over the same period under the alternative scenario with TFP growth.

⁹ The World Bank objective of eradicating poverty by 2030 and the United Nations Sustainable Development Goal 1.1 are both set with respect to this benchmark. The World Bank has also established a lower middle-income International Poverty Line of US\$3.20 per person per day and an upper middle-income International Poverty Line of US\$5.50 per person per day in addition to this benchmark.

¹⁰ Values greater than 1 are theoretically possible due to negative income or wealth.

¹¹ Improved energy productivity and efficiency can also improve well-being through cost savings for consumers, which can increase real incomes.

B. Subjective well-being

This section presents the linkage between productivity growth and subjective well-being through the rise in real incomes. Subjective well-being refers to an individual's own sense of how well his or her life is going. Subjective well-being has been defined as being influenced by frequent positive affect, infrequent negative affect, and cognitive evaluations such as life satisfaction (Diener et al. 1985). It is therefore defined by a combination of an individual's moods and emotions, in addition to a self-evaluation with regard to general and specific areas of one's life. Subjective measures of well-being have been developed in recent decades in recognition of the fact that well-being is not entirely determined by the economic and non-economic factors used to measure objective well-being.

1) Impact of absolute and relative income on subjective well-being

Studies indicate that individuals in higher income groups report higher levels of subjective well-being, on average, than individuals in lower income groups, according to cross-sectional data. The relationship between income and happiness is found to be non-linear, however, with marginal utility diminishing as absolute income increases. Easterlin (2001) found a simple correlation of 0.2 between income and happiness in the United States. This low coefficient reflects the fact that other economic and non-economic factors, such as unemployment, health and personality, also exert a significant influence on happiness. Blanchflower and Oswald (1999) found that higher income is associated with higher happiness, according to cross-sectional data gathered in the United States and the United Kingdom. Di Tella, MacCulloch and Oswald (2001) found that, according to an analysis of cross-sectional data for Europe collected through the Eurobarometer Survey Series (1975–1991), 88 per cent of individuals in the upper income guartile report being "fairly satisfied" or "very satisfied", compared with 66 per cent of individuals in the lowest income quartile. Data from the General Social Survey conducted in the United States over the 1994–1996 period indicate that doubling the income of individuals in the bottom five deciles increases reported happiness by 0.05 score points, on average, but only increases the happiness of individuals in the top five deciles by 0.03 score points (Frey and Stutzer 2002). Sacks, Stevenson and Wolfers (2010) found that richer individuals are more satisfied with their lives and that this condition holds across more than 140 countries and datasets. They also found that a 20 per cent increase in income resulted in an identical change in happiness regardless of the initial income, suggesting that the diminishing impact of an additional dollar of income does not hold. They also found no evidence of a satiation point.

The direction of the causation from higher income to higher subjective well-being has been proven through the effect of money windfalls on happiness. The direction of the causation between income and happiness has also been tested by assessing the effect of money windfalls through lottery winnings on well-being, with an unexpected transfer of £50,000 found to raise subjective well-being by between 0.1 and 0.3 standard deviations (Gardner and Oswald 2001). Other studies with similar findings include those conducted by Smith and Razzell (1975) and by Brickman, Coates and Janoff-Bulman (1978). A similar analysis could be conducted on countries that are introducing or piloting a universal basic income transfer to assess the impact on recipients' well-being.

Some studies also suggest that relative income or income rank affects happiness. Easterlin (1974, 1995, 2001) uses the concept of aspirations as a frame of reference and postulates that a proportional increase in income across all income groups does not affect happiness because relative income has remained unchanged. This has been tested and proven in studies on the importance of relative judgements for happiness (Smith, Diener and Wedell 1989; Tversky and Griffin 1991). The "relative income hypothesis" formulated and tested by Duesenberry (1949) posits an asymmetric structure of externalities, with wealthier individuals imposing a negative external effect on poorer individuals, but not vice versa. Other research on individual welfare functions or the Leyden approach (such as that conducted by van Praag and Arie Kapteyn (1973)) have found that the level of self-reported income considered to be "sufficient" is higher than the level of income that is self-reported by poor people. Preference shift has also been found to destroy 60–80 percent of the welfare effect of an increase in income, so that somewhat less than a third remains.

Alesina, Di Tella and MacCulloch (2001) found that inequality has a large negative, and statistically significant, effect on happiness in Europe, which may be explained by the fact that Europeans have an aversion to inequality. In contrast, income distribution was found to have no effect on happiness in the United States, which they attributed to the perception that upward social mobility remains much more significant in the United States than in Europe and that a low ranking in the range of income distribution may not affect future income. Sacks, Stevenson and Wolfers (2010) found that subjective well-being, however it is measured, rises with income. Deaton (2008) comes to a similar conclusion, finding that individuals in richer countries have both higher levels of subjective well-being and better health. Stevenson and Wolfers (2008) also reached a similar finding, albeit using slightly different methods.

Taken together, these new, stylized facts suggest that subjective well-being, however it is measured, rises with income. Other recent papers have noted this as well. Deaton (2008) found that individuals in richer countries have both higher levels of subjective well-being and better health. Stevenson and Wolfers (2008), performing an analysis parallel to the one in the current report albeit using slightly different methods, have reported similar findings to those described here and have discussed in detail why previous researchers have failed to identify the strong link between subjective well-being and income.

Researchers have also considered the impact of higher income on subjective well-being over time. Their findings remain divided. Easterlin (1995) found that higher income over time does not increased the happiness level of all persons, according to an analysis of time series data for the United States. He explains this result by changes in material norms on which judgements of well-being are based, which rise by the same proportion as the actual income of society. Di Tella, MacCulloch and Oswald (2001) found that reported levels of happiness have fallen in the United States and that life satisfaction in the United Kingdom has remained flat, according to time series data collected between the early 1970s and the late 1990s. In the United States, some groups, such as American men and Black individuals, were found to have become happier over time, which could be potentially linked to an increase in real income. Similarly, in the United Kingdom, once the data were controlled for a sufficient number of personal characteristics (such as whether the individual was unemployed or divorced), there had been a positive trend in happiness over time, which could be attributed to an increase in real income. It should be noted, however, that if the theory regarding the effect of relative income on subjective well-being holds, then higher productivity growth – which would lead to an equal increase in real compensation across the entire income distribution range – would not have an impact on subjective well-being.

There is extensive literature on the determinants of life satisfaction or happiness at a point in time. While productivity and income play a role to a degree, they appear to be much less important than other factors, especially health. Using regression analysis, Clark et al. (2018) identified seven factors influencing the life satisfaction of adults at ages 34 and 42 in the United Kingdom. The most important factor was emotional health, followed closely by whether the person was in a romantic partnership. All other factors were seen as less than half as important: the third factor was not being unemployed, closely followed by income, physical health and the absence of a criminal record, with the least important factor being qualifications. Notably, the only factor that had a direct link to productivity was income.

An econometric analysis of factors affecting the life satisfaction or happiness of Canadians revealed similar results (Sharpe et al. 2010). Mental health was the most important factor affecting happiness, followed by physical health. A sense of belonging and feelings of stress – two factors not included in the study in the United Kingdom – were the third and fourth most important determinants of happiness. Marital status and unemployment were also found to be important. Income, or at least relative income, did explain some variation in happiness across the population, although less than the other variables.

These studies suggest that, to the degree that productivity growth boosts median income, life satisfaction can potentially be improved. Productivity can have an indirect impact on the other determinants of life satisfaction by making additional resources available to the Government through higher GDP arising from productivity growth. This is conditional on the Government being able to use the additional resources to improve the emotional and physical health of the population, reduce unemployment, decrease criminality and boost

qualifications. It is unlikely that additional resources will have much effect on increasing the share of the population that is in a romantic partnership, building a sense of community or reducing feelings of stress.

In recognition of the fact that GDP does not adequately capture a population's well-being, Bhutan developed the Gross National Happiness Index, which measures human well-being on the basis of traditional measures of well-being, such as living standards, health and education, as well as less traditional measures such as time use, psychological well-being, culture, community vitality and environmental diversity. In 2010, 10.4 per cent of the population of Bhutan reported being unhappy, having achieved a sufficient score in less than 50 per cent of the domains measured; 48.7 per cent reported being narrowly happy, having a sufficient score in 50–65 per cent of the domains; 32.6 per cent were extensively happy, with a sufficient score in 66–76 per cent of the domains; and 8.3 per cent reported being deeply happy, with a sufficient score in 77 per cent or more of the domains. The evolution of the index over time is used to guide policy-making and develop project screening tools in Bhutan. The consequences for the index are taken into account before project implementation begins, with the ultimate objective of maximizing the index over time.

2) Theoretical and methodological limitations to assessing the relationship between absolute and relative income and subjective well-being

There are a number of theoretical and methodological limitations to assessing the relationship between income and subjective well-being. First, the relationship between income and subjective well-being varies across countries and regions and may be affected by factors such as culture, language and social institutions (Seligman 2004; Ye, Ng and Lian 2015). Second, the relationship between income and positive emotional well-being may be different from that between income and negative emotional well-being (OECD 2013; Kahneman and Deaton 2010; Tversky and Kahneman 1992). Third, aggregating and disaggregating data may exclude all within-group information and make the relationship between aggregated variables much stronger (Raudenbush and Bryk 2002).

► 3 Linkages running from well-being to productivity

This part of the report considers the linkages running from objective and subjective well-being to labour productivity growth. The first section presents the link between objective well-being and productivity, with objective well-being defined by economic and health indicators. The second section considers the link between subjective well-being and, specifically, job satisfaction and work-related stress, and productivity. Finally, the last section considers the indirect effect of factors such as human and social capital and ICT usage on labour productivity through their impact on well-being.

A. Impact of objective well-being on productivity

In this section, we consider the effect of objective measures of well-being on productivity. The objective measures of well-being considered are health conditions, equality and fairness, wages, and economic and job security. With regard to health, for example, studies by Rivera and Currais (1999a, 1999b) and Knowles and Owen (1995, 1997) suggest that, over the past 25–30 years, between 21 and 47.5 per cent of GDP growth per worker among the working-age population in developed countries can be attributed to improvements in the health of the population (defined as health-care expenditure and life expectancy) at the country level.

1) Impact of health conditions

Impact of worker health conditions on productivity¹²

Absenteeism¹³ among workers with poor health conditions results in significant losses in economy-level output and in productivity measured on per-person-employed basis.¹⁴ Kessler et al. (2001) found that 6.7 workdays were lost on average over a 30-day period among respondents between the ages of 25 and 54 with any form of work impairment, according to data collected through a survey on midlife development in the United States conducted by the MacArthur Foundation.¹⁵ The findings implied that, at national level, some 2.5 billion work-impairment days were being lost in the United States every year within that age group. The same study found that cancer was associated with the highest reported prevalence of any impairment, at 62 per cent, and with the highest conditional number of impairment days within the preceding 30 days, at 16.4 days. Ulcers, major depression and panic disorders were associated with a high likelihood of impairment days. In the United Kingdom, data collected by the Office for National Statistics indicate that 4.1 workdays per worker, on average, are lost owing to sickness absence, which is estimated to cost the economy around £15 billion each year (Black and Frost 2011).

¹² The adverse effect of health conditions on productivity is also found to become more prominent as the workforce ages (Black and Frost 2011; Clements-Croome 2006; PricewaterhouseCoopers 2008).

¹³ Absenteeism refers to the habitual non-presence of an employee at his or her job. Habitual non-presence extends beyond what is deemed to be an acceptable number of days away from the office for legitimate causes such as scheduled vacations, occasional illness and family emergencies.

¹⁴ Absenteeism results in reduced output per worker. Absenteeism does not lead to lower productivity measured on an output per hour basis, as time spent outside of the workplace is not considered in that calculation.

¹⁵ Respondents were asked how many of the preceding 30 days they had been totally unable to work or perform normal activities because of health problems (work-loss days) or had been forced to cut back on such activities because of health problems (work-cutback days).

In addition to the output losses attributed to absenteeism, a high incidence of presenteeism¹⁶ is found among workers with poor health conditions, which adversely affects both labour productivity and output. In the United Kingdom, while the incidence of absenteeism may be falling, the incidence of presenteeism is on the rise owing to employees' fear of being let go by their employers because of their health conditions (Collinson 2018). As highlighted by Kessler et al. (2001), the intangibility of presenteeism suggests that cutback days might actually pose greater downside risks for employers than work-loss days, and the difficulty of measuring and monetizing presenteeism poses a challenge for future research that must be addressed. Some studies nonetheless link certain health conditions to poorer productivity as a result of both presenteeism and absenteeism, such as musculoskeletal disorder and hypertension (Hafner et al. 2015), asthma (Chen et al. 2008), arthritis (Burton et al. 2006), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Britton 2003), type 1 and type 2 diabetes (Hex et al. 2012) and cardiovascular diseases (Gordois et al. 2016).

2) Impact of mental health on productivity

Workers suffering from poor mental health were found to represent significant costs to business in the form of output lost through presenteeism and absenteeism. Workers affected by depression lost approximately one quarter of a workday per month in comparison with workers with no psychiatric issues (Kessler et al. 2001), in addition to 20 per cent of their self-reported productivity owing to factors such fatigue, low self-confidence, memory lapses and poor concentration (Greenberg et al. 1993). Workers suffering from poor mental health had limited ability to manage their time, concentrate on work, communicate effectively with colleagues and achieve the required output. A study conducted in the United States found that employees with mental health conditions such as depression, sadness and mental illness cost businesses an average of US\$4,741 per affected employee per year in absenteeism¹⁷ and an average of US\$28 per affected employee per day in presenteeism¹⁸ in terms of lost output between 1997 and 1999, representing the third highest cost to businesses after heart disease and hypertension (Goetzel et al. 2004).¹⁹ The high incidence of presenteeism found among workers suffering from poor mental health conditions is explained by a general fear of disclosure to their employer about their condition, with 43 per cent of employees found to be reluctant to disclose mental health issues at work (NHS Information Centre 2011), given that 22 per cent of individuals who disclose a mental health problem to their employers are sacked or forced out of their jobs (Mind, 2014).

The most significant degree of work impairment, and, consequently, lost productivity and output, as a result of presenteeism and absenteeism is related to conditions such as obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). Some 41.7 per cent of individuals with moderate OCD report a degree of impairment in fulfilling their role at work within the preceding 12 months. That percentage rises to 79.9 per cent for individuals with severe OCD, of whom 56.7 per cent report experiencing severe workplace impairment. Injured patients who develop PTSD are three times more likely not to have returned to work 12 months after their injury than patients who do not develop PTSD. The highest number of days of absence from work is found among individuals with PTSD, at 15.2 days per person per year (Alonso et al. 2011).

3) Impact of risky health behaviours

Risky health behaviour, which can ultimately result in disease or injury, can affect productivity. Burton et al. (2005) identified a number of health risk factors that were significantly correlated with presenteeism, namely life dissatisfaction, job dissatisfaction and stress, and found that each additional risk factor was

¹⁶ Presenteeism refers to the lost productivity that occurs when employees are not fully functioning in the workplace owing to, for example, an illness or an injury. Another factor resulting in presenteeism is slacking.

¹⁷ This represented the highest cost among the ten most prevalent conditions studied.

¹⁸ This represented the third highest cost among the ten most prevalent conditions studied, after migraines/headaches and respiratory disorders.

¹⁹ Figure based on estimates of the prevalence and on productivity impairment of the condition, as well as the assumption of an hourly wage rate of US\$23.15. Data obtained from the IBM MarketScan Health and Productivity Management Database.

associated with a 2.4 per cent excess drop in productivity. Smoking and smoking breaks have also been found to lead to productivity losses (Alavinia, Molenaar and Burdorf 2009; Baker et al. 2017; Berman et al. 2014). The amount of sleep also affects productivity, with 7–8 hours of sleep seen as optimal and anything above or below this amount leading to lower productivity. Similarly, the amount of physical exercise affects productivity, with 150 minutes of exercise per week associated with greater productivity losses, and less than 30 minutes of exercise four times per week associated with reduced productivity. Employees with poor diets were found to report greater presenteeism (Boles, Pelletier and Lynch 2004; Hafner et al. 2015) and to experience greater difficulty in getting along with their co-workers. Lastly, Gates et al. (2008) found that workers with a body mass index exceeding 35 had productivity losses 4.2 per cent higher than workers who were a healthy weight.

Impact of caregiving for non-workers on worker health conditions

Family caregivers are found to be less productive at work compared with workers who do not have to care for family members outside of work. Individuals who provide daily care for a spouse with severe impairments are more likely to struggle to find time to exercise, rest and take prescription medications compared with non-caregivers (Burton et al. 1997). Caregiving is associated with an overall drop in workplace productivity of just over 20 per cent through greater absenteeism and presenteeism (Giovannetti et al. 2009). Mazanec et al. (2011) found that caregivers reported a productivity loss of 15 per cent while working owing to their caregiving responsibilities, and 28 per cent reported missing work in the preceding week (a mean of 17 hours) over a 15-month period.

4) Impact of equality and fairness on productivity

A fairer society tends to expand educational opportunities for all, which can result in greater labour productivity. Fairer societies enhance public investments in education and ensure that tax-and-transfer mechanisms enable children from low-income households to access the educational system, leading to a more educated workforce that is able to meet labour market requirements and generate greater labour productivity. Numerous studies have found that access to early childhood education for all provides a high return on investment, given that it enhances equality of opportunity and skills acquisition throughout life (Wößmann 2008; Cuhna, Heckman and Schennach 2010; Heckman 2011; Cingano 2014; OECD 2015). Better and more education, up to secondary school education, is associated with higher productivity and, through a positive feedback loop, to greater income equality (OECD 2016). The benefits of public investments in education are found to be the greatest when combined with family benefits targeting lower-income households, which allow parents to remain actively involved in the labour force and generate economic outputs.

Higher levels of pay inequality have been found to reduce satisfaction levels among those at the bottom of the pay scale without increasing happiness levels among those at the top, which challenges the pay-for-per-formance theory (Card et al. 2012). In the United States, baseball teams with the greatest level of pay inequality perform worse than those with less inequality (Bloom 1999). Similar effects have also been identified in the National Football League (Mondello and Maxcy 2009). Inequality undermines performance by creating resentment and weakening cooperation and teamwork.

Cowherd and Levine (1992) found that the greater the pay inequality between executives and hourly workers, the lower the quality of work produced, reflecting the negative effects of inequality on teamwork.

Payne (2017) provides many interesting anecdotes about the negative effects of inequality on well-being. He noted that the odds of air rage incidents are almost four times higher in the coach section of an airplane with a first-class cabin than in airplanes without a first-class cabin. Payne points out that Rawls uses the view of ignorance to argue that, once self-interest is removed, anyone can see that equality is preferable to inequality.

5) Impact of wages on productivity (job turnover and worker effort in relation to efficiency wages)

Wages which are set above market clearing rates are believed to lead to higher productivity gains at both the enterprise level and at the economy-wide level. Akerlof (1982) introduced the efficiency wage theory,²⁰ which postulates that workers are motivated to work harder when their wage is set above the market clearing rate. There are two competing views of the effect of wage premiums on employees. The first view is that employees compare the marginal costs of losing their job to the marginal benefits of working hard, with high wages being a carrot which employers can use, along with a stick consisting of the threat of dismissal (Bowles 1985; Shapiro and Stiglitz 1984). The second view is that high wages constitute gifts which appeal to norms of loyalty and mutual obligation in workers (Akerlof 1982). Higher wages can, in turn, reduce employee turnover, which reduces the cost of training replacement workers. Over time, firms which offer wages above market clearing wages can attract more productive workers, allowing these firms to become more productive and gradually replace less productive firms, providing economy-wide productivity gains. The efficiency wage theory has been tested and proven under a limited set of employment and firm conditions. Rebitzer (1995) found empirical evidence for the negative trade-off between wages and employer supervision for contract maintenance workers in the petrochemical industry, with the cost of supervision linked to lower wages, while Dube, Lester and Reich (2016) found reduced employee turnover in restaurants in California that offered a wage above the market clearing wage.

6) Impact of economic and job security on productivity

The impact of economic and job security on productivity is mixed. Some studies have found that lower economic and job security reduces well-being and, ultimately, productivity and, in turn, that greater economic and job security improves well-being and productivity. A lack of job security has been linked to poorer states of well-being which ultimately affect productivity (Van den Heuvel et al. 2010; Kinnunen et al. 2000; Probst et al. 2007). Kinnunen et al. (2000), for example, found that high perceived job insecurity was a predictor of poor relationships with both colleagues and superiors a year after the initial survey, which was conducted across three organizations in Finland.

Other studies, meanwhile, suggest that job security is linked to reduced productivity. Ichino and Riphahn (2005) found that the number of days of absence per week increases significantly once employment protection is granted to white-collar workers. The authors postulate that, in addition to shirking as a cause, workers gradually learn how to work as little as possible and that, because a worker's ability is not initially observable and is largely gauged by output, workers dedicate a higher level of effort in the earlier months, which declines the longer the worker holds the post. Engellandt and Riphahn (2005) found that workers under temporary contracts dedicate more effort to their work than permanent employees and that the probability of a temporary worker working unpaid overtime is 60 per cent greater than for permanent workers.

B. Path from subjective well-being to productivity

This section presents a summary of the literature review of the effect of subjective measures of well-being on productivity, namely job satisfaction and work-related stress.

²⁰ The term "efficiency wages" was introduced by Alfred Marshall to establish that wages were set per efficiency unit of labour and that, for employers, there is no difference between more efficient workers and less efficient workers, as wages are established based on the efficiency of the worker.

1) Job satisfaction and productivity

Studies in the field of psychology and organizational behaviour link happiness to traits associated with enhanced job performance, providing support for the happy/productive worker thesis. Happier workers²¹ are found to be more pragmatic, less absent, more cooperative and friendlier (Bateman and Organ 1983; Judge et al. 2001), to change jobs less often and to be more willing to help others (Spector 1997), and to be more engaged at work, to earn more money and have better relationships with colleagues and customers (George and Brief 1992; Pavot and Diener 1993; Spector 1997; Wright and Cropanzano 2000). Furthermore, positive shocks to happiness have been found to result in significant productivity gains from increased effort, rather than from higher precision in executing standardized tasks (Oswald, Proto and Sgroi 2014). The impact is, however, conditional on the social and the economic context. Other studies have found that, in addition to enhanced analytical thinking, positive emotions are also linked to greater creativity and may enhance productivity in occupations where this type of thinking is required.

A statistically significant positive relationship has been found between workers' happiness and productivity and financial indicators of business performance. Bryson, Forth and Stokes (2017) found a significant positive correlation between job satisfaction and productivity using a nationally representative employer–employees matched dataset in the United Kingdom. Hafner et al. (2015) found that, among workers who were satisfied with their job, productivity impairment as a result of presenteeism and/or absenteeism dropped by 6.92 percentage points. Arnold et al. (2016) found a significant negative relationship between job satisfaction and presenteeism costs but failed to find an association between job satisfaction and absenteeism. At the organizational level, Bakotić (2016) found significant positive correlations between employee job satisfaction and several financial indicators, such as revenue per employee, return on equity and business excellence index rankings, across 40 medium- to large-sized Croatian companies (r < .44). Koys (2001) also found a positive correlation between employee satisfaction across a restaurant chain in year 1 and store profit and customer satisfaction in year 2 (.35 < r < .61).

Some studies have refined the happy/productive worker thesis by considering the relationship between trait and state levels of happiness²² on productivity. Zelenski, Murphy and Jenkins (2008) calculated average levels of happiness (between-subjects or at the trait level of analysis) as well as individual variations in happiness over time (within-subject or at the state level of analysis) and examined the relationship with self-reported productivity among managers employed in the public and private sectors. The happiness indicators examined included job satisfaction, quality of work, life, life satisfaction, positive affect and negative affect. The results of their study indicate that between-subjects positive affect and quality of work life were moderately correlated with productivity (r = .35 and .32, respectively), whereas job satisfaction and life satisfaction were less strongly correlated with productivity (r = .36 and .35, respectively), but that job satisfaction was less strongly correlated with productivity (r = .19), and that daily changes in life satisfaction and negative affect were not significantly associated with productivity. The results of this study indicate that, while positive affect has a robust relationship with production, negative affect appears to have no significant relationship.

2) Link between work-related stress and productivity

Empirical evidence suggests that work-related stress is associated with productivity losses, either directly or indirectly, through its effect on health conditions and health-related behaviours. Motowidlo et al. (1986)

In Bateman and Organ (1983), for example, the happiness of workers is determined by citizenship behaviours established by the worker's direct superior with regard to items such as compliance, altruism, dependability, house-cleaning, complaints, waste, cooperation, criticism of and arguing with others, and punctuality, as well as the worker's job satisfaction, as measured through the Job Descriptive Index developed by Smith, Kendall and Hulin (1969), which measures items pertaining to work, pay, promotions, coworkers and supervision.

²² This refers to the study of human personality and the emotional state of individuals, denoted by positive and negative affects, in psychology.

surveyed nurses to determine their subjective stress levels and asked supervisors and co-workers to measure each nurse's job performance; they found negative correlations between subjective stress and job performance variables such as composure, quality of patient care and interpersonal effectiveness. The cost of high subjective stress levels among employees is found to result mostly from presenteeism rather than absenteeism, with employees with high stress levels losing 4.72 hours of work per week, on average, as a result of presenteeism and two-thirds of an hour per week, on average, as a result of absenteeism (Burton et al. 1999). Mind (2013) cautions, however, that the size of the relationship between work-related stress and absenteeism may be underestimated, with findings showing that 90 per cent of individuals who reported a day off work because of stress provided an alternative reason for their absence. Chronic work-related stress ultimately leads to physical health risks and physical health-related behaviours, which are negatively correlated with productivity. Belkic et al. (2004) have linked high work-related stress with health conditions such as high blood pressure, musculoskeletal disease, heavy alcohol use, low physical activity, smoking and being overweight. Chandola et al. (2008) also found that poorer health behaviours due to high stress levels led to health conditions; for example, lower consumption of fruits and vegetables was found to account for 16 per cent of the effect of work-related stress on coronary heart disease.

Some studies, however, suggest that while too little or too much work-related stress may be associated with poor job performance, moderate levels of stress optimize job performance. The Yerkes-Dodson Law suggests an inverted-U function in which job performance correlates to the level of work-related stress. This theory suggests that, while low stress levels are associated with boredom and low arousal leads to low job performance, moderate amounts of stress optimize job performance, and more than moderate stress leads to diminishing performance. There is a significant lack of empirical evidence to support this theory, however, with Muse, Harris and Feild (2003) noting that the majority of studies into the relationship between stress and performance have chosen to study populations that are likely to be in high-stress work environments and have used measures that do not tap into the low-stress side of the inverted-U.

Chronic, continuous exposure to work-related stress can lead to burnout, which is defined by physical, mental and emotional exhaustion, cynicism and impaired personal efficacy. Bakker et al. (2003) found a positive relationship between employee burnout and the duration of their absence from work. Dewa et al. (2014) identified a negative relationship between burnout and productivity (measured by work ability and number of days of sick leave), as well as intent to continue practising and intent to change jobs.

C. Factors affecting productivity through well-being effects

This section presents the impact of factors such as human capital, social capital, public health and environmental conditions at work and outside of work, ICT usage and workplace wellness programmes, which can increase objective and subjective well-being and, in turn, productivity.

1) Human capital, well-being and productivity

Human capital, whether acquired through the educational system or on the job, is found to improve well-being and can thereby indirectly affect productivity. Kemna (1987) identified a positive relationship between educational attainment levels and well-being, while other studies point to the idea that a general (secondary) education leads to the highest levels of health and life satisfaction of all (Hartog and Oosterbeek 1998; Stutzer 2004). With regard to the impact on productivity of human capital acquired at work, Ryan and Deci (2000) argue that individuals are at their best when trying to learn new skills, master new challenges and apply their talents where they can be of benefit. They also argue that all individuals share three basic innate and universal psychological needs which must be satisfied to enhance well-being, namely autonomy, competence and relatedness.

The coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic, which led to many school closures, is believed to have adversely affected the acquisition of skills by students, which will later affect their productivity and earnings.

An OECD (2020) study suggests that students who experienced school closures will earn 3 per cent less over their lifetimes unless measures are put in place to help them catch up. Such a loss of earnings would, in turn, lead to a drop in long-term economic growth of 1.5 per cent in countries that were deeply affected by school closures.

2) Social capital (e.g. trust), well-being and productivity

Companies in which employees are more engaged experience less absenteeism, lower turnover and fewer thefts (GALLUP 2017), as well as greater customer satisfaction. First, social capital allows for the effective sharing and diffusion of skills and information among workers (Coleman 1990; Healy and Côté 2001). Second, significant positive associations are found to exist between trust in organizational leadership and numerous outcomes linked to higher levels of productivity, such as conscientiousness, job performance, organizational commitment and intention to stay (Dirks and Ferrin 2002). This is found to be particularly important as employees start to work away from the office more, which often makes it difficult to monitor their effort and performance (Bijlsma and Koopman 2003). A 2011 workplace employment relations survey found that the average level of trust in managers was positively related to workplace labour productivity (Brown et al. 2015).

Organizational structures and practices can also help maximize worker performance. Organizational citizenship behaviours are defined as "individual behaviour that is discretionary, not explicitly recognized by the formal reward system and that in the aggregate promotes the effective functioning of the organization" (Organ 1988). It is an area of study that requires more research to understand how organizational structures and practices can maximize worker performance above and beyond their job responsibilities. Using data from surveys of employees and their supervisors across eight companies in 1992, Cappelli and Rogovsky (1998) found that involvement in work organization increased organizational citizenship behaviours both indirectly, by changing the job characteristics of individual tasks, and directly, independent of such changes, but that involvement in decisions governing employment practices had only small indirect effects on organizational citizenship behaviours and no direct effect.

3) Impact of public health and environmental conditions both in and outside the workplace on worker well-being and productivity

Environmental conditions, which can be affected by public health measures, can have an impact on well-being and productivity. Brereton et al. (2008) found that spatial environmental and climate variables are significantly linked to individual life satisfaction, while Wargocki et al. (1999) found that the performance of female students asked to complete tasks from the Walter Reed performance assessment battery was negatively affected by polluted air. Federspiel et al. (2004) found that ventilation has a significant impact on the performance of call centre workers, and Kosonen and Tan (2004) found that the effect of air quality on productivity losses varies by occupation, with losses being the greatest in occupations requiring analytical thinking, compared with typing tasks. Gohara and Iwashita (2003) found that air temperature affects work performance, with temperatures between 22°C and 24°C found to generate the highest performance on proofreading tasks. Lamb and Kwok (2016) found that dark environments are associated with a greater negative impact on work performance than those considered to be too bright. Viola et al. (2008) found that exposing workers to blue-enriched white light for four weeks resulted in higher rates of alertness, concentration and performance compared with workers exposed to white light. Lamb and Kwok (2016) found that the effect of environmental stressors, such as poor lighting or noise annoyance, on performance was often indirect; such stressors were linked to poorer mood, headaches and feeling "off", which can, in turn, affect performance by reducing motivation and increasing tiredness and distractibility.

The impact on job performance of work environments located in green buildings remains unclear. Some studies have found the use of green buildings to support productivity, with the number of sick days reported to have dropped by 39 per cent among workers at an Australian law firm following its move to a

green building (Miller et al. 2009). Similarly, Singh et al. (2010) found significant reductions in self-reported absenteeism due to asthma, respiratory allergies, depression and stress-related conditions after workers were moved from conventional office buildings to buildings that had achieved Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) certification in the United States. The impact on productivity is not consistent across studies, however, with Thatcher and Milnermilner (2014) failing to find any significant difference in organizational outcomes associated with a move from traditional buildings to three green buildings in South Africa. They do, however, find changes in physical well-being and perceived environmental comfort.

4) Implications of ICT usage on worker well-being and productivity

There are a number of channels through which ICT usage affects worker well-being and productivity. First, ICT usage can affect employee well-being by fostering higher levels of autonomy, as information needed to complete a task can easily be found online. Fujimoto et al. (2016) found that usage of mobile technologies by Japanese workers is linked to greater levels of job autonomy, which, in turn, is linked to higher levels of work engagement. Second, ICT usage allows greater flexibility, enabling employees to work at any time and in any location, thereby improving workplace well-being and, potentially, productivity. Third, ICT usage allows for better and easier communication between workers, thereby reducing stress levels in tasks requiring co-ordination between team members, in addition to freeing up more time for productive activities and reducing ambiguity (Lee, Shin and Baek 2017).

The COVID-19 pandemic is believed to have increased labour productivity. Three-quarters of firms across European Union countries were reported to have become more efficient and innovative, with nine out of ten firms having accelerated the adoption of digital technology and automation in order to become more agile in a changing environment (Bruegel, 2021). This has the potential to increase labour productivity, with one survey finding that productivity growth could rise by 1 additional percentage point over the coming years as a result of the changes brought about by the pandemic (McKinsey & Company, 2021). Furthermore, teleworking has also potentially increased labour productivity by introducing more flexibility in working conditions, reducing commuting time and improving connectivity. It should be cautioned, however, that teleworking is not suitable for all types of jobs and requires careful considerations as to how to coordinate tasks, manage teams and provide equal career opportunities for all in a hybrid model. As such, the net impact on labour productivity remains unclear.

5) Impact of workplace wellness programmes on worker well-being and productivity

Workplace wellness programmes were first designed to improve well-being without having to alter workplace factors. The interventions featured in workplace wellness programmes can serve as a test of whether improvements to employee well-being lead to productivity gains. Wellness intervention programmes can be categorized as primary, secondary and/or tertiary prevention-focused (Goetzel et al. 2008). Primary programmes are directed at employees who are generally healthy, while secondary programmes target employees who have been identified as demonstrating certain health risk-factors and tertiary programmes are designed to improve disease control in employees who already have a chronic health condition, such as diabetes or heart disease. While primary and secondary programmes usually focus on managing certain lifestyle factors, such as nutrition and physical activity, tertiary programmes are more closely aligned with the goals of early employee assistance programmes.²³ In addition to supporting productivity gains, workplace wellness programmes are also believed to improve the organizational climate, which can help improve employees' morale, desire to work and relations with other employees (O'Donnell 2000).

²³ An employee assistance programme is a confidential, short-term counselling service for employees with personal difficulties that affect their work performance. Employment assistance programmes grew out of the industrial alcoholism programmes of the 1940s.

By enhancing productivity, workplace wellness programmes are often able to deliver financial benefits to firms that outweigh the cost of the scheme. The workplace wellness programme offered by Johnson & Johnson, which included on-site fitness centres, online weight management tools and coaching programmes for tobacco cessation and blood pressure management, delivered a positive return on investment estimated at US\$1.88–US\$3.92 for every dollar spent (Henke et al. 2011).

A number of factors continue to influence the success of workplace wellness programmes. Black (2008) found that the most successful programmes have visible support and participation of senior management and have interventions that are well aligned with the overall business aims. Following a literature review and a series of interviews with employers in London to examine best practice in supporting the health needs of City workers, it was found that the most effective programmes were those based on the specific needs of the staff, rather than those which adopted a "one size fits all" approach, and that employees should be involved in the design, delivery and evaluation of the programme (Cavill Associates Ltd 2014). It was also determined that the targeted behavioural change affected the success of the programme; programmes aimed at increasing physical activity received stronger support than interventions aimed at altering diets. Weiner, Lewis and Linnan (2009) have developed the "theory of implementation" for workplace wellness programmes, which is based on the idea that effective programmes should be accessible and easy to use and should provide incentives for engagement.

Conclusion

This report began by posing two questions. First, does slower productivity growth constitute a significant threat to the betterment of the well-being of the world's population, and, if so, by how much? Second, given that many indicators of well-being can have a positive effect on productivity, should one aspect of any strategy to revive productivity growth focus on policies that improve well-being?

The evidence reviewed in this report answers both these questions strongly in the affirmative. First, productivity growth – and the higher incomes and government revenues arising from it – does indeed contribute to higher levels of well-being, especially objective measures of well-being, and especially in the developing world. Consequently, slower global productivity growth will dampen the pace of improvements in well-being worldwide.

Second, given the strong impact of well-being on productivity, especially with regard to health, policies and programmes aimed at increasing the well-being of the population, either directly or indirectly, will have a positive impact on productivity performance. These productivity gains will, in turn, generate greater income and government revenues that can boost well-being. Productivity growth and improvements in well-being are closely interconnected and can create mutually reinforcing positive feedback loops.

There is great opportunity for the ILO to play a global role in broadening the debate on productivity/well-being linkages. In a related concept note drawn up as part of this project, a research strategy has been elaborated that the ILO may wish to consider, given its interest in deepening its understanding of the linkages between productivity and well-being. The scoping exercise identifies five themes that the ILO may wish to adopt in its research agenda on productivity/well-being linkages. The five themes are:

- The concept and measurement of productivity
- Determinants of productivity growth
- The equitable sharing of productivity gains
- The importance of decent work for productivity growth
- Limitations of productivity/income growth for well-being improvement.

References

Acemoglu, Daron. 1998. "Why Do New Technologies Complement Skills? Directed Technical Change and Wage Inequality". Quarterly Journal of Economics 113 (4): 1055–1089.

Acemoglu, Daron, and Pascual Restrepo. 2018. "The Race between Man and Machine: Implications of Technology for Growth, Factor Shares, and Employment". American Economic Review 108 (6): 1488–1542.

Akerlof, George A. 1982. "Labor Contracts as Partial Gift Exchange". Quarterly Journal of Economics 97 (4): 543–569.

Alavinia, Seyed Mohammad, Duco Molenaar, and Alex Burdorf. 2009. "Productivity Loss in the Workforce: Associations with Health, Work Demands, and Individual Characteristics". American Journal of Industrial Medicine 52 (1): 49–56.

Alesina, Alberto, Rafael Di Tella, and Robert MacCulloch. 2004. "Inequality and Happiness: Are Europeans and Americans Different?". Journal of Public Economics 88 (9–10): 2009–2042.

Alonso, J., M. Petukhova, G. Vilagut, S. Chatterji, S. Heeringa, T.B. Üstün, A.O. Alhamzawi, M.C. Viana, M. Angermeyer, E. Bromet, R. Bruffaerts, G. de Girolamo, S. Florescu, O. Gureje, J.M. Haro, H. Hinkov, C.-y. Hu, E.G. Karam, V. Kovess, D. Levinson, M.E. Medina-Mora, Y. Nakamura, J. Ormel, J. Posada-Villa, R. Sagar, K.M. Scott, A. Tsang, D.R. Williams, and R.C. Kessler. 2011. "Days out of Role due to Common Physical and Mental Conditions: Results from the WHO World Mental Health Surveys". Molecular Psychiatry 16 (12): 1234–1246.

Arnold, Amélie E., Jennifer K. Coffeng, Cécile R.L. Boot, Allard J. van der Beek, Maurits W. van Tulder, Dagmar Nieboer, Johanna M. van Dongen. 2016. "The Relationship Between Job Satisfaction and Productivity-Related Costs: A Longitudinal Analysis". Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine 58 (9): 874–879.

Atkinson, A. 2005. "The Atkinson Review: Final Report – Measurement of Government Output and Productivity for the National Accounts." HMSO (Her Majesty's Stationery Office).

Autor, David H., David Dorn and Gordon H. Hanson. 2015. "Untangling Trade and Technology: Evidence from Local Labour Markets". The Economic Journal 125 (May): 621–646.

Baker, Christine L., Natalia M. Flores, Kelly H. Zou, Marianna Bruno, and Vanessa J. Harrison. 2017. "Benefits of Quitting Smoking on Work Productivity and Activity Impairment in the United States, the European Union and China". International Journal of Clinical Practice 71 (1).

Bakker, Arnold B., Evangelia Demerouti, Elpine de Boer, and Wilmar B. Schaufeli. 2003. "Job Demands and Job Resources as Predictors of Absence Duration and Frequency". Journal of Vocational Behavior 62 (2): 341–356.

Bakotić, Danica. 2016. "Relationship Between Job Satisfaction and Organisational Performance". Economic Research-Ekonomska Istraživanja 29 (1): 118–130.

Bateman, Thomas S., and Dennis W. Organ. 1983. "Job Satisfaction and the Good Soldier: The Relation Between Affect and Employee 'Citizenship'". The Academy of Management Journal 26 (4): 587–595.

Belkic, K., P.A. Landsbergis, P.L. Schnall, and D. Baker. 2004. "Is Job Strain a Major Source of Cardiovascular Disease Risk?". Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment and Health 30 (2): 85–128.

Berlingieri, Guiseppe, Patrick Blanchenay, and Chiara Criscuolo. 2017. "The Great Divergence(s)", OECD Science, Technology and Industry Policy Paper No. 39.

Berman, Micah, Rob Crane, Eric Seiber, and Mehmet Munur. 2014. "Estimating the cost of a smoking employee". Tobacco Control 23 (5): 428–433.

Bijlsma, Katinka, and Paul Koopman. 2003. "Introduction: Trust within Organisations". Personnel Review 32 (5): 543–555.

Black, Carol. 2008. Working for a Healthier Tomorrow. London: TSO.

Black, Carol, and David Frost. 2011. Health at Work – An Independent Review of Sickness Absence.

Blanchflower, David, and Andrew Oswald. 1999. Well-Being Over Time in Britain and the USA.

Bloom, Matt. 1999. "The Performance Effects of Pay Dispersion on Individuals and Organizations". Academy of Management Journal 42 (1): 25–40.

Boles, Myde, Barbara Pelletier, and Wendy Lynch. 2004. "The Relationship Between Health Risks and Work Productivity". Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine 46 (7): 737–745.

Bowles, S. (1985). The production process in a competitive economy: Walrasian, neo-Hobbesian and Marxian models. American Economic Review, 75: 16-36

Brereton, Finbarr & Clinch, J. Peter & Ferreira, Susana. (2008). Happiness, Geography and the Environment. Ecological Economics. 65. 386-396. 10.1016/j.ecolecon.2007.07.008.

Brickman, Philip, Dan Coates, and Ronnie Janoff-Bulman. 1978. "Lottery Winners and Accident Victims: Is Happiness Relative?". Journal of Personality and Social Psychology 36 (8): 917–927.

Britton, M. 2003. "The Burden of COPD in the U.K.: Results from the Confronting COPD Survey". Respiratory Medicine 97 (Supplement C): S71–S79.

Brown, Sarah, Daniel Gray, Jolian McHardy, and Karl Taylor. 2015. "Employee Trust and Workplace Performance". Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization 116: 361–378.

Bruegel. 2021. The Pandemic's Uncertain Impact on Productivity. https://www.bruegel.org/2021/09/the-pandemics-uncertain-impact-on-productivity/

Bryson, Alex, John Forth, and Lucy Stokes. 2017. "Does Employees' Subjective Well-Being Affect Workplace Performance?". Human Relations 70 (8): 1017–1037.

Burton, Lynda C., Jason T. Newsom, Richard Schulz, Calvin H. Hirsch, and Pearl S. German. 1997. "Preventive Health Behaviors among Spousal Caregivers". Preventive Medicine 26 (2): 162–169.

Burton, W.N., D.J. Conti, C.Y. Chen, A.B. Schultz, and D.W. Edington. 1999. "The Role of Health Risk Factors and Disease on Worker Productivity". Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine 41 (10): 863–877.

Burton, Wayne N., Chin-Yu Chen, Daniel J. Conti, Alyssa B. Schultz, Glenn Pransky, and Dee Edington. 2005. "The Association of Health Risks with On-the-Job Productivity". Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine 47 (8): 769–777.

------. 2006. "Worker Productivity Loss Associated with Arthritis". Disease Management 9 (3): 131–143.

Cappelli, Peter, and Nikolai Rogovsky. 1998. "Employee Involvement and Organizational Citizenship: Implications for Labor Law Reform and 'Lean Production'". ILR Review 51 (4): 633–653.

Card, David, Alexandre Mas, Enrico Moretti, and Emmanuel Saez. 2012. "Inequality at Work: The Effect of Peer Salaries on Job Satisfaction". American Economic Review 102 (6): 2981–3003.

Cárdenas Rodrígues, Miguel, Ivan Haščič, and Martin Souchier. 2018. "Environmentally Adjusted Multifactor Productivity: Methodology and Empirical Results for OECD and G20 Countries", OECD Green Growth Paper No. 2016/04.

Cavill Associates Ltd. 2014. Best Practice in Promoting Employee Health and Wellbeing in the City of London. City of London Corporation.

Chandola, Tarani, Annie Britton, Eric Brunner, Harry Hemingway, Marek Malik, Meena Kumari, Ellena Badrick, Mika Kivimaki, and Michael Marmot. 2008. "Work Stress and Coronary Heart Disease: What are the Mechanisms?". European Heart Journal 29 (5): 640–648.

Chen, Hubert, Paul D. Blanc, Mary L. Hayden, Eugene R. Bleecker, Anita Chawla, and June H. Lee. 2008. "Assessing Productivity Loss and Activity Impairment in Severe or Difficult-to-Treat Asthma". Value in Health 11 (2): 231–239.

Cingano, Federico. 2014. "Trends in Income Inequality and its Impact on Economic Growth", OECD Social, Employment and Migration Working Paper No. 163.

Clark, Andrew E., Sarah Flèche, Richard Layard, Nattavudh Powdthavee, and George Ward. 2018. The Origins of Happiness: The Science of Well-being over the Life Course. Princeton University Press

Clements-Croome, Derek. 2006. Creating the Productive Workplace. London: CRC Press.

ClimateWorks Australia. 2015. "Australia's Energy Productivity Potential: Energy's Growing Role in Australia's Productivity and Competitiveness."

Coleman, James S. 1990. Foundations of Social Theory. Cambridge, MA: The Belknap Press of Harvard University Press.

Collinson, Patrick. 2018. "Sick Days Taken by UK Workers Fall to Lowest Rate on Record". The Guardian, 30 July 2018.

Cowherd, Douglas M., and David I. Levine. 1992. "Product Quality and Pay Equity between Lower Level Employees and Top Management: An Investigation of Distributive Justice Theory". Administrative Science Quarterly 37 (2): 302–320.

Cuhna, Flavio, James. J. Heckman, and Susanne M. Schennach. 2010. "Estimating the Technology of Cognitive and Noncognitive Skill Formation". Econometrica 78 (3): 883–931.

Deaton, Angus. 2008. "Income, Health, and Well-Being around the World: Evidence from the Gallup World Poll". Journal of Economic Perspectives 22 (2): 53–72.

De Avillez, Ricardo. 2011. "A Half-Century of Productivity Growth and Structural Change in Canadian Agriculture: An Overview." International Productivity Monitor 2: 82–99.

De Serres, A. and C. Schwellnus. 2018. "Decoupling of Wages and Productivity: Micro-level Mechanisms", OECD Economics Department Working Papers.

Dewa, Carolyn S., Desmon Loong, Sarah Bonato, Nguyen Xuan Thanh, and Philip Jacobs. 2014. "How Does Burnout Affect Physician Productivity? A Systematic Literature Review". BMC Health Services Research 14.

Diener, E., Emmons, R. A., Larsen, R. J., & Griffin, S. (1985). The Satisfaction With Life Scale. Journal of Personality Assessment, 49(1), 71–75. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327752jpa4901_13

Dirks, K.T., and D.L. Ferrin. 2002. "Trust in Leadership: Meta-analytic Findings and Implications for Research and Practice". Journal of Applied Psychology 87 (4): 611–628.

Di Tella, Rafael, MacCulloch, Robert and Oswald, Andrew J., The Macroeconomics of Happiness (September 17, 2001). University of Bonn ZEI Working Paper No. B3, Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/ abstract=285918 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.285918

Dube, Arindrajit, T. William Lester, and Michael Reich. 2016. "Minimum Wage Shocks, Employment Flows and Labour Market Frictions". Journal of Labour Economics 34 (3).

Duesenberry, J. S. 1949. Income, Saving and the Theory of Consumer Behaviour. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.

Easterlin, Richard A. 1974. Does Economic Growth Improve the Human Lot? Some Empirical Evidence, Academic Press, Pages 89-125, ISBN 9780122050503, https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-205050-3.50008-7. (https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780122050503500087)

Easterlin, Richard A. 1995. "Will Raising the Incomes of All Increase the Happiness of All?". Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization 27 (1): 35–47.

———. 2001. "Income and Happiness: Towards a Unified Theory". The Economic Journal 111 (473): 465–484.

Engellandt, Axel, and Regina T. Riphahn. 2005. "Temporary Contracts and Employee Effort". Labour Economics 12 (3): 281–299.

Federspiel, Clifford & Fisk, W & Price, Phillip & Liu, G & Faulkner, D & Dibartolomeo, D.L. & Sullivan, D & Lahiff, Maureen. (2004). Worker performance and ventilation in a call center: Analyses of work performance data for registered nurses. Indoor air. 14 Suppl 8. 41-50. 10.1111/j.1600-0668.2004.00299.x.

Fournier, Jean-Marc. 2016. "The Positive Effect of Public Investment on Potential Growth", OECD Economics Department Working Paper No. 1347.

———. 2002. "What Can Economists Learn from Happiness Research?". Journal of Economic Literature 40: 402–435.

Fujimoto, Yuka, Ahmed Shahriar Ferdous, Tomoki Sekiguchi, and Ly-Fie Sugianto. 2016. "The Effect of Mobile Technology Usage on Work Engagement and Emotional Exhaustion in Japan". Journal of Business Research 69 (9): 3315–3323.

GALLUP. 2017. State of the Global Workplace. New York: Gallup Press.

Gardner, Jonathan, and Andrew J. Oswald. 2001. Does Money Buy Happiness? A Longitudinal Study Using Data on Windfalls.

Gates, Donna M., Paul Succop, Bonnie J. Brehm, Gordon Gillespie, and Benjamin D. Sommers. 2008. "Obesity and Presenteeism: The Impact of Body Mass Index on Workplace Productivity". Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine 50 (1): 39–45.

George, Jennifer M., and Arthur Brief. 1992. "Feeling Good-Doing Good: A Conceptual Analysis of the Mood at Work-Organizational Spontaneity Relationship". Psychological Bulletin 112 (2): 310–329.

Goetzel, Ron Z., Stacey R. Long, Ronald J. Ozminkowski, Kevin Hawkins, Shaohung Wang, and Wendy Lynch. 2004. "Health, Absence, Disability, and Presenteeism Cost Estimates of Certain Physical and Mental Health Conditions Affecting U.S. Employers". Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine 46 (4): 398–412.

Goetzel, Ron Z. and Ozminkowski, R. J. 2008. The Health and Cost Benefits of Work Site Health-Promotion Programs. Annual Review of Public Health, 29:1, 303-323.

Gohara, Taemi, and Go Iwashita. 2003. "Discussion of the Relationship between Indoor Environmental Comfort and Performance in Simple Task: The Influence of Arousal Caused by Room Temperature and Scent on the Performance". Journal of Environmental Engineering (Transactions of AIJ) 68 (572): 75–80.

Gordois, Adam L., Peter P. Toth, Ruben G.W. Quek, Emma M. Proudfoot, Carly J. Paoli, and Shravanthi R. Gandra. 2016. "Productivity Losses Associated with Cardiovascular Disease: A Systematic Review". Expert Review of Pharmacoeconomics and Outcomes Research 16 (6): 759–769.

Greenberg, Paul E., Laura E. Stiglin, Stan N. Finkelstein, and Ernst R. Berndt. 1993. "The Economic Burden of Depression in 1990". The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry 54 (11): 405–418.

Greenspon, Jacob, Anna Stansbury, and Lawrence H. Summers. 2021. "Productivity and Pay in the United States and Canada". International Productivity Monitor 41.

Guschanski, Alexander, and Özlem Onaran. 2021. "The Decline in the Wage Share: Falling Bargaining Power of Labour or Technological Progress? Industry-level Evidence from the OECD". Socio-Economic Review.

Hafner, Marco, Christian van Stolk, Catherine L. Saunders, Joachim Krapels, and Ben Baruch. 2015. "Health, Wellbeing and Productivity in the Workplace: A Britain's Healthiest Company Summary Report". RAND Corporation.

Hartog, Joop, and Hessel Oosterbeek. 1998. "Health, Wealth and Happiness: Why Pursue a Higher Education?". Economics of Education Review 17 (3): 245–256.

Haskel, Jonathan, and Stian Westlake. 2018. Capitalism Without Capital: The Rise of the Intangible Economy. Princeton University Press.

Havlik, Petr, Hugo Valin, Aline Mosnier, Michael Obersteiner, Justin S. Baker, Mario Herrero, Mariana C. Rufino, and Erwin Schmid. 2013. "Crop Productivity and the Global Livestock Sector: Implications for Land Use Change and Greenhouse Gas Emissions". American Journal of Agricultural Economics 95 (2): 442–448.

Healy, Tom, and Sylvain Côté. 2001. The Well-Being of Nations: The Role of Human and Social Capital – Education and Skills. OECD.

Heckman, James J. 2011. "The Economics of Inequality: The Value of Early Childhood Education". American Educator 35 (1): 31–47.

Henke, Rachel M., Ron Z. Goetzel, Janice McHugh, and Fik Isaac. 2011. "Recent Experience in Health Promotion at Johnson & Johnson: Lower Health Spending, Strong Return on Investment". Health Affairs 30 (3): 490–499.

Hex, N., C. Bartlett, D. Wright, M. Taylor, and D. Varley. 2012. "Estimating the Current and Future Costs of Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes in the UK, Including Direct Health Costs and Indirect Societal and Productivity Costs". Diabetic Medicine 29 (7): 855–862.

Hoekstra, Rutger. 2019. Replacing GDP by 2030: Towards a Common Language for the Well-being and Sustainability Community. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Ichino, Andrea, and Regina T. Riphahn. 2005. "The Effect of Employment Protection on Worker Effort: A Comparison of Absenteeism during and after Probation". Journal of the European Economic Association 3 (1): 120–143.

ILO (International Labour Organization). 2016. Key Indicators of the Labour Market, Ninth edition.

Judge, Timothy A., Carl J. Thoreson, Joyce E. Bono, and Gregory K. Patton. 2001. "The Job Satisfaction–Job Performance Relationship: A Qualitative and Quantitative Review". Psychological Bulletin 127 (3): 376–407.

Kahneman, Daniel, and Angus Deaton. 2010. "High Income Improves Evaluation of Life but not Emotional Well-being". Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 107 (38): 16489–16493.

Kemna, Harrie J.M.I. 1987. "Working Conditions and the Relationship Between Schooling and Health". Journal of Health Economics 6 (3): 189–210.

Kessler, R.C., P.E. Greenberg, K.D. Mickelson, L.M. Meneades, and P.S. Wang. 2001. The Effects of Chronic Medical Conditions on Work Loss and Work Cutback". Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine 43 (3): 218–225.

Kinnunen, Ulla, Saija Mauno, Jouko Natti, and Mika Happonen. 2000. "Organizational Antecedents and Outcomes of Job Insecurity: A Longitudinal Study in Three Organizations in Finland". Journal of Organizational Behavior 21 (4): 443–459.

Knowles, Stephen, and P. Dorian Owen. 1995. "Health Capital and Cross-Country Variation in Income per Capita in the Mankiw-Romer-Weil Model." Economics Letters 48 (1): 99–106.

———. 1997. "Education and Health in an Effective-Labour Empirical Growth Model." Economic Record 73 (223): 314–328.

Kosonen, R., and F. Tan. 2004. "The Effect of Perceived Indoor Air Quality on Productivity Loss". Energy and Buildings 36 (10): 981–986.

Koys, Daniel J. 2001. "The Effects of Employee Satisfaction, Organizational Citizenship Behavior, and Turnover on Organizational Effectiveness: A Unit-level, Longitudinal Study". Personnel Psychology 54 (1): 101–114.

Lamb, S., and K.C.S. Kwok. 2016. "A Longitudinal Investigation of Work Environment Stressors on the Performance and Wellbeing of Office Workers". Applied Ergonomics 52: 104–111.

Lee, Sang-Hoon, Yuhyung Shin, and Seung Ik Baek. 2017. "Task Characteristics and Work Engagement: Exploring Effects of Role Ambiguity and ICT Presenteeism". Sustainability 9 (10): 1855.

Marzolini, M. 1999. "Address to the Summa Forum on Productivity". March 1999.

Mazanec, Susan R., Barbara J. Daly, Sara L. Douglas, and Amy R. Lipson. 2011. "Work Productivity and Health of Informal Caregivers of Persons with Advanced Cancer". Research in Nursing and Health 34 (6): 483–495.

McKinsey & Company. 2021. Will Productivity and Growth Return After the COVID-19 Crisis? https://www. mckinsey.com/industries/public-and-social-sector/our-insights/will-productivity-and-growth-return-afterthe-covid-19-crisis Mishel, Lawrence, and Josh Bivens. 2021. "The Productivity-Median Compensation Gap in the United States: The Contribution of Increased Wage Inequality and the Role of Policy Choices." International Productivity Monitor 41.

Miller, Norm G., Dave Pogue, Quiana D. Gough, and Susan M. Davis. 2009. "Green Buildings and Productivity". Journal of Sustainable Real Estate 1 (1): 65–89.

Mind. 2013. "Work is biggest cause of stress in people's lives". 9 October 2013.

———. 2014. We've Got Work to Do: Transforming Employment and Back-to-Work Support for People with Mental Health Problems.

Mondello, Mike, and Joel Maxcy. 2009. "The Impact of Salary Dispersion and Performance Bonuses in NFL Organizations". Management Decision 47 (1): 110–123.

Motowidlo, S.J., J.S. Packard, and M.R. Manning. 1986. "Occupational Stress: Its Causes and Consequences for Job Performance". Journal of Applied Psychology 71 (4): 618–629.

Muse, Lori A., Stanley G. Harris, and Hubert S. Feild. 2003. "Has the Inverted-U Theory of Stress and Job Performance Had a Fair Test?". Human Performance 16 (4): 349–364.

NHS The Information Centre, Attitudes to Mental Illness – 2011 Survey Report.

Nordhaus, William D. 1996. "Do Real-Output and Real Wages Measures Capture Reality? The History of Lighting Suggests Not". In The Economics of New Goods, edited by Timothy F. Bresnahan and Robert J. Gordon, 17–70. University of Chicago Press.

O'Donnell, M.P. 2000. "Health and Productivity Management: The Concept, Impact and Opportunity – Commentary to Goetzel and Ozminkowski". American Journal of Health Promotion 14 (4): 215–217.

OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development). 2001. Measuring Productivity: Measurement of Aggregate and Industry-Level Productivity Growth.

-----. 2011. How's Life? Measuring Well-being.

———. 2013. OECD Guidelines on Measuring Subjective Well-being.

———. 2015. In It Together: Why Less Inequality Benefits All.

———. 2016. OECD Economic Outlook, Volume 2016 Issue I, Chapter 2, Promoting Productivity and Equality: A Twin Challenge.

-----. 2018. OECD Economic Outlook 2018. Issue 2.

———. 2020. The Economic Impacts of Learning Losses.

ONS (Office for National Statistics), United Kingdom. 2016. The ONS Productivity Handbook: A Statistical Overview and Guide.

Organ, D. 1988. A Restatement of the Satisfaction-Performance Hypothesis. Journal of Management, 14(4), 547-57.

Osberg, Lars and Andrew Sharpe (2002) "An Index of Economic Well-being for Selected OECD Countries, Review of Income and Wealth, Vol. 48, No. 1, pp. 291-316.

Oswald, Andrew J., Eugenio Proto, and Daniel Sgroi. 2014. "Happiness and Productivity". Journal of Labor Economics 33 (4): 789–822.

Pavot, William, and Ed Diener. 1993. "Review of the Satisfaction with Life Scale". Psychological Assessment 5 (2).

Payne, Keith. 2017. The Broken Ladder: How Inequality Affects the Way We Think, Live and Die. New York, NY: Viking.

Pilling, David. 2018. The Growth Delusion: The Wealth and Well-being of Nations. Bloomsbury Publishing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers. 2008. Work, Health and Wellbeing: Building the Case for Wellness. Department for Work and Pensions, United Kingdom.

Probst, Tahira M., Susan M. Stewart, Melissa L. Gruys, and Bradley W. Tierney. 2007. "Productivity, Counterproductivity and Creativity: The Ups and Downs of Job Insecurity". Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology 80 (3): 479–497.

Raudenbush, Stephen W., and Anthony S. Bryk. 2002. Hierarchical Linear Models: Applications and Data Analysis Methods, 2nd ed. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.

Rebitzer, James B. 1995. "Is There a Trade-off Between Supervision and Wages? An Empirical Test of Efficiency Wage Theory". Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization 28 (1): 107–129.

Rivera, Berta, and Luis Currais. 1999a. "Economic Growth and Health: Direct Impact or Reverse Causation?". Applied Economics Letters 6 (11): 761–764.

———. 1999b. "Income Variation and Health Expenditure: Evidence for OECD Countries". Review of Development Economics 3 (3): 258–267.

Ryan, R.M., and E.L. Deci. 2000. "Self-determination Theory and the Facilitation of Intrinsic Motivation, Social Development, and Well-being". American Psychologist 55 (1): 68–78.

Sacks, Daniel W., Betsey Stevenson, and Justin Wolfers. 2010. "Subjective Well-Being, Income, Economic Development and Growth". NBER Working Paper No. 16441.

Schwellnus, Cyrille, Andreas Kappeler, and Pierre-Alain Pionnier. 2017. "The Decoupling of Median Wages from Productivity in OECD Countries". International Productivity Monitor 32: 44–60.

Seligman, Martin E. P. 2004. Authentic Happiness: Using the New Positive Psychology to Realize Your Potential for Lasting Fulfillment. New York, NY: Atria Books.

Shapiro, C. and Stiglitz, J. (1984). Equilibrium unemployment as a worker discipline device. American Economic Review, 74: 433-444.

Sharpe, Andrew, and James Ashwell. 2021. "The Evolution of the Productivity-Median Wage Gap in Canada, 1976-2019". International Productivity Monitor 41: 98–117.

Sharpe, Andrew, Ali Ghanghro, Erik Johnson, and Anam Kidwai. 2010. "Does Money Matter? Determining the Happiness of Canadians". CSLS Research Report No. 2010-09.

Sharpe, Andrew, and James Uguccione. 2017. "Decomposing the Productivity-Wage Nexus in Selected OECD Countries, 1968-2013". International Productivity Monitor 32: 25–43.

Singh, Amanjeet, Matt Syal, Sue C. Grady, and Sinem Korkmaz. 2010. "Effects of Green Buildings on Employee Health and Productivity". American Journal of Public Health 100 (9): 1665–1668.

Smith, P. C., Kendall, L. M., & Hulin, C. L. (1969). The measurement of satisfaction in work and retirement: A strategy for the study of attitudes. Rand Mcnally.

Smith, R. H., Diener, E., & Wedell, D. H. (1989). Intrapersonal and social comparison determinants of happiness: A range-frequency analysis. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 56(3), 317–325. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.56.3.317

Smith, Stephen, and Peter Razzell. 1975. The Pools Winners. London: Caliban Books.

Spector, Paul E. 1997. Job Satisfaction: Application, Assessment, Causes, and Consequences, vol. 3. Beverly Hills: SAGE.

Stevenson, Betsey, and Justin Wolfers. 2008. "Economic Growth and Subjective Well-Being: Reassessing the Easterlin Paradox". Brookings Papers on Economic Activity 2008: 1–87.

Stutzer, Alois. 2004. "The Role of Income Aspirations in Individual Happiness". Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization 54 (1): 89–109.

Andreas Teichgraeber, Andreas and Van Reenen, John (2011). Have productivity and pay decoupled in the UK? CEP Discussion paper number CEPDP1812.

Thatcher, Andrew and Milner, Karen. (2014). Green Ergonomics and Green Buildings. Ergonomics in Design. 22. 5-12. 10.1177/1064804613516760.

Tversky, Amos, and Daniel Kahneman. (1992). "Advances in Prospect Theory: Cumulative Representation of Uncertainty". Journal of Risk and Uncertainty 5: 297–323.

Tversky, A., & Griffin, D. (1991). Endowment and contrast in judgments of well-being. In F. Strack, M. Argyle, & N. Schwarz (Eds.), Subjective well-being: An interdisciplinary perspective (pp. 101–118). Pergamon Press.

Van den Heuvel, Swenne G., Goedele A. Geuskens, Wendela E. Hooftman, Lando L.J. Koppes, and Seth N.J. van den Bossche. 2010. "Productivity Loss at Work: Health-Related and Work-Related Factors". Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation 20 (3): 331–339.

Van Praag, Bernard M. S. & Kapteyn, Arie, 1973. "Further evidence on the individual welfare function of income: An empirical investigation in The Netherlands," European Economic Review, Elsevier, vol. 4(1), pages 33-62, April.

Viola, A.U., L.M. James, L.J.M. Schlangen, and D-J. Dijk. 2008. "Blue-enriched White Light in the Workplace Improves Self-Reported Alertness, Performance and Sleep Quality". Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment and Health 34 (4): 297–306.

Wargocki, Pawel, David P. Wyon, Yong K. Baik, Geo Clausen, and P. Ole Fanger. 1999. "Perceived Air Quality, Sick Building Syndrome (SBS) Symptoms and Productivity in an Office with Two Different Pollution Loads". Indoor Air 9 (3): 165–179.

Watson, William. 2002. "Social Policy and Productivity: Anybody Here See Any Levers?". In The Review of Economic Performance and Social Progress, edited by Keith Banting, Andrew Sharpe and France St. Hilaire. Centre for the Study of Living Standards and Institute for Research on Public Policy.

Weiner, Bryan J., Megan A. Lewis, and Laura A. Linnan. 2009. "Using Organization Theory to Understand the Determinants of Effective Implementation of Worksite Health Promotion Programs". Health Education Research 24 (2): 292–305.

World Bank. World Development Indicators Databank, https://databank.worldbank.org/source/world-development-indicators

Wößmann, Ludger. 2008. "Efficiency and Equity of European Education and Training Policies". International Tax and Public Finance 15 (2): 199–230.

Wright, Thomas A., Russell Cropanzano. 2000. "Psychological Well-being and Job Satisfaction as Predictors of Job Performance". Journal of Occupational Health Psychology 5 (1): 84–94.

Ye, Dezhu, Yew-Kwang Ng, and Yujun Lian. 2015. "Culture and Happiness". Social Indicators Research 123; 519–547.

Zelenski, John M., Steven A. Murphy, and David A. Jenkins. 2008. "The Happy-Productive Worker Thesis Revisited". Journal of Happiness Studies: An Interdisciplinary Forum on Subjective Well-Being 9: 521–537.

Advancing social justice, promoting decent work

The International Labour Organization is the United Nations agency for the world of work. We bring together governments, employers and workers to improve the working lives of all people, driving a human-centred approach to the future of work through employment creation, rights at work, social protection and social dialogue.

Contact details

Research Department (RESEARCH)

International Labour Organization Route des Morillons 4 1211 Geneva 22 Switzerland T +41 22 799 6530 research@ilo.org www.ilo.org/research



